KETONE MONOESTER DOSE, CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW, AND COGNITION IN YOUNG ADULTS

THE EFFECTS OF ACUTE KETONE MONOESTER INGESTION ON RESTING CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW AND COGNITION IN YOUNG ADULTS

By AEDAN J. ROURKE

H B.Sc. Biology and Psychology, Neuroscience & Behaviour

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Aedan J. Rourke, September 2024

Master of Science (2024) Kinesiology McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: The Effects of Acute Ketone Monoester Ingestion on Resting Cerebral Blood Flow and Cognition in Young Adults

AUTHOR: Aedan J. Rourke H B.Sc. Biology and Psychology, Neuroscience & Behaviour

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Jeremy Walsh, Ph.D.

Number of Pages: xii, 74

LAY ABSTRACT

In addition to being an alternative energy source used during fasting or when consuming low amounts of carbohydrates, ketone bodies may act as signals that impact various aspects of brain health. Recent studies suggest that supplementating with a drink that contains ketones is an alternative way to increase ketones in your blood, without dietary modifications. We investigated whether one-time ingestion of a ketone supplement (KME) affects brain blood flow and cognition, as well as whether the size of KME dose differentially impacts these outcomes. Our results show that KME ingestion lowers brain blood flow, to a different extent depending on the dose that was ingested. Despite this, there was no change in memory performance from taking this ketone supplement. These findings were important in demonstrating how KME ingestion impacts the brain, and will inform future guidelines on its potential use for protecting and/or improving brain health.

ABSTRACT

Ketone monoester (KME) supplements are one exogenous ketone intervention which has demonstrated benefits to multiple facets of brain health, including cerebral blood flow (CBF) and cognition. However, it is unknown how KME impact CBF and cognition acutely, and whether the size of KME dose differentially impacts these outcomes. Higher KME doses lower blood pH and arterial CO₂ (P_aCO₂), which are important regulators of CBF. We hypothesized that high-dose KME ingestion would lower CBF via acidosis-induced compensatory reductions in P_aCO₂, whereas low-dose KME ingestion would enhance CBF, mirroring past findings from other exogenous ketone interventions. Changes in cognitive function were also hypothesized to parallel CBF responses. Twenty young adults (age= 23 ± 3 years; BMI= 23.4 ± 2.2 kg/m²) participated. In a double-blinded, counterbalanced, crossover design, participants completed 3 separate conditions: 1) high-dose KME (0.6 g/kg); 2) low-dose KME (0.3 g/kg); or 3) placebo. Outcome measures were assessed at fasting baseline, 45-, and 120-min post-ingestion. CBF was assessed using Duplex ultrasound of the internal carotid and vertebral arteries. End-tidal CO₂ (P_{ET}CO₂) was measured using a gas analyzer, to approximate P_aCO₂. Hippocampal-dependent function was assessed using the lure discrimination index (LDI) and recognition memory score (REC) from the mnemonic similarity task. Over a 2-hour period post-ingestion, low- and high-dose KME lowered CBF to a different extent relative to baseline (45-min (low-dose, high-dose): $\Delta 10.4\%$, $\Delta 14.0\%$; 120-min (low-dose, high-dose): $\Delta 6.2\%$, $\Delta 18.6\%$; P < 0.001). These reductions were mirrored by dose-dependent reductions in PETCO2 and changes in CBF were positively correlated with changes in $P_{ET}CO_2$ (P < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.219$). Despite reductions in CBF, both LDI (P = 0.619) and REC (P= 0.651) were unchanged in the KME conditions. These findings provide a foundational characterization of the acute effects of KME dose on CBF and cognition, which will inform potential therapeutic recommendations on KME for brain health.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is hard to put to words the amount of gratitude I have for countless people who have helped me get this thesis across the finish line. First, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Jeremy Walsh. Thank you for welcoming me into the Mac Kin community and for accepting me to be a part of your lab. Through all the challenges we have experienced together, you have always been professional and handled everything with class, which I truly respect. I have learned so much, and I am excited to continue to learn both inside and outside the lab under your supervision for the next 4 years as a PhD student. I can't wait to see our on-ice chemistry develop over the next 4 seasons training for the Heimbecker Cup.

To my thesis committee; Dr. Martin Gibala, Dr. Baraa Al-Khazraji, and Dr. Travis Gibbons, thank you for your ongoing support and mentorship through the development and completion of this thesis.

To my friends and the entire Mac Kin community, I am so fortunate to have been able to work, laugh, hang out, and get to know such an amazing group of people. I am honored to call you all my friends. You know that you have some good friends when they will drink ketones for you. You are all champs for that. To my new roomates at the Haddon house; Matt, Jack, and Stu, I am excited to see where the next few years bring us. I can't forget my old roomates for the past 5 years; Ethan, Sam, Emerson, Liam, and Nathan. I'm glad I got to spend the last few years living with a great group of guys and I'll never forget all the good times we had.

To the entire Brain Exercise Enhancement Laboratory, this thesis was not possible without all your hard work and dedication. Claudia, Addriana, and Jenna; thank you for your unwavering support and dedication (even when I made you come in on the weekend or early in the morning for testing). You all are amazing people, and I am lucky to be your friend. And in no particular order, to the entire rest of the kCBF team; Aidan, Becca, Bardia, Cara, Michaela, thank you for your help with this project. You all are very talented researchers and I look forward to catching up in the future to hear about your accomplishments. To Keegan, thanks for blazing the path for us to succeed and for being a great friend. Finally, I want to thank our former post-doc Dr. Geoff Coombs. I am incredibly greatful to have learned so much about research and beyond with you, and for your expertise and humour inside and outside of the lab. We all miss you dearly.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family. To my loving mom Kathy and dad Sean, I am so lucky to have the best parents ever. You two are my rock, have always supported me through the ups and downs, and are the best people I know. If I end up being half the person the two of you are, I will consider that a pretty successful life. To my brother Brendan and sister Siobhan, you both are the best siblings I could ever ask for. Even being the dreaded middle child at times and through all the fighting over the front seat, I wouldn't have it any other way. You two are both exceptional human beings. Finally, to my partner Natalie, I often find myself wondering how I ended up with such an amazing woman. The fact that you have chosen to stick by my side through the mania of being a graduate student is one of the many reasons why I am so fortunate to be with you. I can't wait to continue building a life together. This thesis is for all of you and I hope that I made you all as proud as I am to know each and every one of you. I love you all to the moon and back.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Literature Review: An Overview of Cerebral Blood Flow Regulation, Keto	one
Body Metabolism, and Cognitive Function	1
1.1 Major Regulators of Cerebral Blood Flow	1
1.1.1 Arterial Blood Gases & Acid-Base Regulation	1
1.1.2 Mean Arterial Pressure	4
1.1.3 Cerebral Metabolism & Neurovascular Coupling	5
1.2 Ketone Body Metabolism	6
1.2.1 Endogenous Metabolism of Ketone Bodies	7
1.2.2 Nutritional Ketosis and Exogenous Ketone Sources	8
1.3 Beneficial Effects of Exogenous β-OHB	10
1.3.1 Haemodynamic Effects	10
1.3.2 CBF and Cerebral Metabolism	
1.3.3 Effects on Cognitive Function	15
1.4 β-OHB Dose and Metabolic Acidosis – A Threat to CBF?	17
1.5 Summary	19
1.5.1 Purpose and Hypothesis for the kCBF Study	20
Chapter 2: The Effects of Acute Ketone Monoester Ingestion on Resting Cerebral Blo	od
Flow and Cognition in Young Adults	21
2.1 Introduction	21
2.2 Methods	24
2.2.1 Participants	24
2.2.2 Familiarization and \dot{VO}_{2peak} Testing	25
2.2.3 Supplement Details	26
2.2.4 Experimental Visits	27
2.2.5 Haemodynamic and Respiratory Measurements	29
2.2.6 Middle Cerebral Artery Blood Velocity	29
2.2.7 Global Cerebral Blood Flow Assessment	30
2.2.8 Hippocampal-Dependent Function Assessment (Mnemonic Similarity Task)	31

Appendices	68
References	58
2.4.2 Conclusion	56
2.4.1 Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions	55
2.4 Discussion	51
2.3.6 Exploratory Correlations	50
2.3.5 Hippocampal-Dependent Function	49
2.3.4 Haemodynamic and Respiratory Responses	46
2.3.3 Cerebral Blood Flow and Cerebrovascular Outcomes	37
2.3.2 Plasma β-OHB	36
2.3.1 Participants	35
2.3 Results	35
2.2.12 Statistical Analyses	34
2.2.11 Sample Size Determination	33
2.2.10 Plasma β-OHB	33
2.2.9 Intrinsic Motivation	33

LIST OF TABLES, FIGURES, APPENDICES

TABLES

Table 1. Participant characteristics.	
Table 2. Cerebrovascular measures.	39
Table 3. Haemodynamic and respiratory measures.	

FIGURES

Chapter 1: Literature Review: An Overview of Cerebral Blood Flow Regulation, Ketone Body Metabolism, and Cognitive Function

Figure 1. Blood bicarbonate buffer system	2
Figure 2. Ketone body production and metabolism	8
Figure 3. Potential mechanism of the influence of changes in P _a CO ₂ via high-doses of KME	on
CBF	19

Chapter 2: The Effects of Acute Ketone Monoester Ingestion on Resting Cerebral Blood Flow and Cognition in Young Adults

Figure 1. Schematic displaying trial flowchart.	25
Figure 2. Schematic overview of the experimental protocol	29
Figure 3. Plasma β-OHB	36
Figure 4. Group global CBF (gCBF) responses	43
Figure 5. Individual global CBF (gCBF) responses.	44
Figure 6. Regional CBF responses	45
Figure 7. Global CBF (gCBF) versus end-tidal CO ₂ (P _{ET} CO ₂).	48
Figure 8. Hippocampal-dependent memory performance.	49
Figure 9. Exploratory correlations.	50

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Menstrual Cycle Questionnaire	68
Appendix B – Dietary Recall Sheet	69
Appendix C – Consensus Sleep Diary	70
Appendix D - Intrinsic Motivation Subscale of the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory	71

Appendix E - Gastrointestinal Symptoms Questionnaire	72
Appendix F – HiREB Approval Letter	73
Appendix G – Sample Size Determination	74

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AUC	Area-under-the-curve
BDNF	Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor
BMI	Body Mass Index
β-ΟΗΒ	Beta-hydroxybutyrate
CA	Cerebral Autoregulation
CBF	Cerebral Blood Flow
CO	Carbon Monoxide
CO_2	Carbon Dioxide
CPP	Cerebral Perfusion Pressure
CPT	Carnitine Palmitoyl Transferase
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
CVC	Cerebrovascular Conductance
CVR	Cerebrovascular Resistance
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure
gCBF	Global Cerebral Blood Flow
HR	Heart Rate
ICA	Internal Carotid Artery
IMI	Intrinsic Motivation Inventory
KE	Ketone Ester
KME	Ketone Monoester
KS	Ketone Salt
LDI	Lure Discrimination Index
LMM	Linear Mixed Model
MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure
MCA	Middle Cerebral Artery
MCAv	Middle Cerebral Artery Velocity
MCT	Monocarboxylate Transporters
MCTs	Medium-Chain Triglycerides
MST	Mnemonic Similarity Task
NO	Nitric Oxide
NVC	Neurovascular Coupling
O_2	Oxygen
P_aCO_2	Partial Pressure of Arterial Carbon Dioxide
PCA	Posterior Cerebral Artery
P _{ET} CO ₂	End-Tidal Carbon Dioxide
REC	Recognition Memory Score
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure
SV	Stroke Volume
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes
VA	Vertebral Artery
[.] VO ₂	Rate of Oxygen Consumption
^{VO} 2peak	Peak Rate of Oxygen Consumption
VSMC	Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell

DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

Aedan Rourke's Role:

- Obtained ethics approval with the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board
- Completed pre-registrtation of the trial and outcomes on clinicaltrials.gov
- Obtained necessary technical training to conduct the study (phlebotomy and vascular ultrasound)
- Designed study protocol and selected outcome measures to assess
- Developed standard operating procedures for the study
- Set up study materials for data collection
- Trained and supervised undergraduate KIN 3RP3 and 4RR6 research students, who assisted with data collection and analysis
- Led data collection, analysis, and interpretation
- Was primarily responsible for manuscript preparation

Role of co-authors:

- JW assisted AR with ethics application and trial pre-registration
- JW assisted AR with study design and the selection of outcome measures
- JW assisted AR with data interpretation
- JW assisted AR with manuscript writing and editing

<u>Chapter 1: Literature Review: An Overview of Cerebral Blood Flow Regulation, Ketone</u> <u>Body Metabolism, and Cognitive Function</u>

1.1 Major Regulators of Cerebral Blood Flow

The brain requires a constant supply of blood flow to maintain optimal health and function. Despite constituting only 2% of total body mass, the brain receives nearly 15% of total cardiac output and accounts for 20% of total oxygen consumption at rest to support its high energy demands (Williams & Leggett, 1989; Watts *et al.*, 2018). Cerebral blood flow (CBF) is tightly regulated to maintain matching of oxygen delivery to cerebral oxygen demand, as insufficient perfusion leads to unconsciousness and excessive perfusion leads to cerebral tissue damage (Bisson *et al.*, 2016). CBF is determined by the combination of cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) and cerebrovascular resistance (CVR) (Ainslie & Duffin, 2009). CPP is the main driving force of CBF and is defined as the gradient between mean arterial pressure (MAP) at the level of the Circle of Willis and the intracranial pressure. CVR represents the resistance to blood flow and is modulated primarily through alterations in cerebrovascular tone and vessel diameter. Together, there are three main factors which modulate CBF by altering CPP and/or CVR: the partial pressures of arterial blood gases, mean arterial pressure, and cerebral metabolism.

1.1.1 Arterial Blood Gases & Acid-Base Regulation

At rest, cerebral metabolism is the primary driver of CBF but alterations in the partial pressure of carbon dioxide in arterial blood (P_aCO_2) have the strongest influence on changes in CBF (i.e., CBF regulation) (Smith & Ainslie, 2017). Blood oxygen (O_2) concentrations regulate CBF in hypoxia (low atmospheric O_2), but carbon dioxide (CO_2) is the primary regulatory blood gas in normoxic conditions (Smith & Ainslie, 2017). The importance of P_aCO_2 in CBF regulation is

clearly evident in the maintenance of acid-base homeostasis (Hoiland *et al.*, 2019). CO₂ is a byproduct of the blood bicarbonate buffering system in response to changes in pH (i.e., H⁺ concentrations) (**Figure 1**), and primarily of cellular metabolism. However, alterations in P_aCO_2 can also mediate changes in blood pH, given that the blood bicarbonate buffer system is a physiological equilibrium (**Figure 1**). CO₂ can freely diffuse across the blood-brain barrier and corresponding changes in CBF occur to retain or remove CO₂ from cerebral tissue and vessels to maintain pH levels within the brain (Carr *et al.*, 2021). Decreases in P_aCO_2 cause cerebral vasoconstriction and decreases in CBF (Querido & Sheel, 2007), leading to the retention of CO₂ to prevent pH levels from becoming alkalotic (Carr *et al.*, 2021). Conversely, increases in P_aCO_2 cause cerebral vasodilation and increases in CBF (Ito *et al.*, 2003), to remove excess CO₂ from the brain and prevent pH levels from becoming acidic (Carr *et al.*, 2021).

$$CO_2 + H_2O \rightleftharpoons H_2CO_3 \rightleftharpoons HCO_3^- + H^+$$

Figure 1. Blood bicarbonate buffer system.

Cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ occurs via the relaxation or contraction of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC). CO₂ freely diffuses across the blood-brain barrier where it can alter the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) pH surrounding cerebral VSMCs. Changes in CSF pH directly impact VSMC intracellular H⁺, leading to alterations in cerebral vessel diameter, and therefore CBF (Lassen, 1968; Hoiland *et al.*, 2019). As CO₂ increases in the CSF, the production of H⁺ also increases to restore the blood bicarbonate buffer equilibrium (**Figure 1**). This increase in H⁺ within the CSF creates a diffusion gradient to drive H⁺ flux into the VSMC. Ultimately, the intracellular [H⁺] within the VSMC is the primary regulator of VSMC tone (Duffin *et al.*, 2021; Caldwell *et al.*, 2021). When P_aCO₂ is increased, intracellular H⁺ will increase within the VSMC and cause a myriad of cellular signalling effects which lead to VSMC hyperpolarization, primarily through

increases in K⁺ channel conductance (Hoiland *et al.*, 2019). VSMC hyperpolarization downregulates Ca²⁺ channel activity (Nelson *et al.*, 1990), thus reducing Ca²⁺ influx and intracellular Ca²⁺, which leads to smooth muscle relaxation and vasodilation (Duffin *et al.*, 2021). When P_aCO₂ is decreased, intracellular H⁺ will decrease within the VSMC, which increases intracellular Ca²⁺ and leads to smooth muscle contraction and vasoconstriction (Duffin *et al.*, 2021). Interestingly, the modulation of arterial pH using bicarbonate infusion combined with maintained P_aCO₂ via end-tidal clamping produces no change in CBF in humans, which suggests that CO₂ in the blood ultimately drives corresponding changes in CBF (Lambertsen *et al.*, 1961; Caldwell *et al.*, 2021). Further, animal models suggest that vascular high shear stress may futher contribute to cerebral vasodilation in the presence of elevated P_aCO₂ via the release of vasodilators including nitric oxide (NO) and prostaglandins from endothelial cells (Leffler *et al.*, 1994; Parfenova *et al.*, 1994).

All of the major cerebral blood vessels are sensitive to changes in CO₂, including the large extracranial vessels in the neck, the internal carotid (ICA) (Willie *et al.*, 2012) and vertebral arteries (VA) (Sato *et al.*, 2012), the intracranial vessels such as the middle cerebral artery (MCA) (Ide *et al.*, 2003; Battisti-Charbonney *et al.*, 2011) and posterior cerebral artery (PCA) (Skow *et al.*, 2013), and the smallest pial arterioles within the cerebrum (Wolff *et al.*, 1930). In all vessels, there is a 1-3% reduction in blood flow with hypocapnia (low CO₂) and 3-6% increase in blood flow with hypercapnia (high CO₂), per unit mmHg change in CO₂ below or above eupnoeic P_aCO_2 (Willie *et al.*, 2014). This suggests that the cerebral vasculature is more reactive to a hypercapnic stimulus compared to a hypocapnic stimulus of the same magnitude. Though this sensitivity to CO₂ is present in all cerebral vessels, corresponding changes in CBF also differ between vessels. One study demonstrated that VA reactivity is greater in hypocapnia than the ICA, MCA, and PCA,

whereas hypercapnic reactivity was similar between vessels (Willie *et al.*, 2012). However, reduced reactivity to CO_2 has been observed in the VA relative to the ICA (Sato *et al.*, 2012), as well as in the PCA relative to the MCA (Skow *et al.*, 2013), over a range of P_aCO_2 combining both hypocapnic and hypercapnic stimuli. Despite potential regional differences, extensive sensitivity to CO_2 throughout all cerebral vessels allows for the maintenance of acid-base homeostasis within the brain, despite individual differences between vessels.

1.1.2 Mean Arterial Pressure

Cerebral autoregulation (CA) is a strong contributor to the regulation of CBF at rest and during exercise (Smith & Ainslie, 2017). CA primarily acts to dampen perturbations to CBF caused by acute and/or gradual changes in MAP via adjustments in the vasomotor tone of cerebral vessels (Tzeng & Ainslie, 2014). In general, the pressure-flow relationship between MAP and CBF is pressure-passive, where increases in MAP cause vasodilation and increased CBF, and decreases in MAP lead to vasoconstriction and decreased CBF (Ogoh & Tarumi, 2019). However, over the range of physiological MAP (~90 - 110 mmHg), CBF remains at a relatively constant level despite changes in MAP (Willie et al., 2014). This represents the typical range of MAP at rest. CA counteracts these aforementioned pressure-passive mechanisms to prevent large changes in CBF outside of the range of normal MAP. The purpose of CA is to protect the brain from ischemia during instances of systemic hypotension, or hemorrhage in cases of transient or sustained hypertension (Claassen et al., 2021). Thus, increases in MAP stimulate cerebral vasoconstriction to reduce increases in CBF, and decreases in MAP stimulate cerebral vasodilation to prevent large reductions in CBF (Kontos et al., 1978). Recent evidence also demonstrates that CA is more efficacious at buffering CBF against increases in MAP compared to decreases, outside of the normal MAP range (Brassard et al., 2017). Modulations in vasomotor tone in response to

fluctuations in MAP are facilitated throughout the entire cerebral vasculature, from the smallest pial arterioles (Lassen, 1959) to the large extracranial vessels in the neck (Willie *et al.*, 2014). The large intracranial and extracranial arteries exert the greatest influence on vascular resistance (Faraci & Heistad, 1990). Overall, vessel reactivity in CA is crucial in the maintenance of adequate cerebral perfusion.

1.1.3 Cerebral Metabolism & Neurovascular Coupling

Neurovascular coupling (NVC) is the tight coupling of local O₂ delivery to local metabolic demand within the brain (Iadecola, 2017). NVC is facilitated by the proximity of excitatory and inhibitory neurons within the cortex, astrocytes, and cortical penetrating arterioles which form the neurovascular unit (NVU) (Willie *et al.*, 2014). When a neuron is activated, the close synapse between astrocytes and arterioles allows for the transmission of neural signals into a series of vascular signals which propagate through adjacent VSMCs via gap junctions (Kawamura *et al.*, 2003). Neuron activation stimulates astrocytes to release vasoactive agents, such as NO and adenosine, onto upstream arterioles to induce vasodilation and increase CBF to that neuronal network (Attwell *et al.*, 2010).

The regulation of NVC responses to neuron activation can be impacted by alterations in substrate provision to the brain, rather than exclusively through neuron oxygen or glucose-sensing mechanisms. Indeed, experimental manipulations which increase blood oxygen and glucose content do not alter NVC responses during somatosensory stimulation (Wolf *et al.*, 1997; Lindauer *et al.*, 2009). Whereas, metabolic shifts induced with the presence of alternative fuel sources to glucose (i.e., pyruvate, lactate, ketone bodies) can directly alter cytosolic redox potential and impact subsequent astrocyte signalling and NVC responses. For example, the lactate/pyruvate ratio within the astrocyte exists in near equilibrium to the cytosolic NADH:NAD⁺ ratio (Vlassenko *et*

al., 2006). Studies using intravenous infusion of lactate (Mintun et al., 2004) demonstrate that lactate increases CBF responses to neuron activation in a dose-dependent manner (Hollyer et al., 2019), likely by increasing the astrocyte NADH:NAD⁺ ratio which signals for increased blood flow (Ido et al., 2001). Contrarily, intravenous infusion of pyruvate, which lowers the cytosolic NADH:NAD⁺ ratio, reduces CBF responses during a visual stimulation task (Vlassenko *et al.*, 2006). As neuronal activity increases, lactate production via pyruvate oxidation within the astrocyte will increase at a similar rate (Vlassenko et al., 2006). The conversion of pyruvate to lactate involves the oxidation of NADH to generate NAD⁺. However, the accumulation of lactate within astrocytes via intravenous infusion slows the rate of pyruvate oxidation and leads to excess NADH buildup (Vlassenko et al., 2006). This is a direct example of how alternative fuel sources can alter oxidative glucose metabolism, despite no change in metabolic demand, and modify the sensitivity of NVC responses. Elevations in circulating lactate can also stimulate further increases in CBF though the release of vasodilatory compounds such as NO and adenosine to modulate neuronal excitability and activity, and therefore NVC (Cauli et al., 2023). Although NVC was originally hypothesized to be strictly a coupling of O₂ delivery to demand, changes in substrate provision to the brain can also have large impacts on NVC responses. The following sections of this review will focus on beta-hydroxybutyrate (β -OHB), an alternative substrate that can be used by the brain to support metabolism. The presence of β -OHB directly alters cellular signalling and metabolism, which induces significant alterations to human physiology, especially in the brain.

1.2 Ketone Body Metabolism

Glucose is the primary energy source for numerous organ systems within the body, including the brain, which has a near-exclusive reliance on glucose to support metabolic demand (Sims-Robinson *et al.*, 2015). When carbohydrate stores are lowered in scenarios associated with

the suppression of insulin, such as with caloric restrictions, starvation, diabetes, or prolonged exercise, the production of ketone bodies increases as an alternative metabolic fuel for the brain, heart, and skeletal muscle (Puchalska & Crawford, 2017; Masino, 2022). In these scenarios, fatty acids are mobilized and converted into ketone bodies by the liver, where they can be transferred to peripheral tissues to generate ATP through the electron transport chain (**Figure 2**) (Yurista *et al.*, 2021). The main endogenously produced ketone bodies within the body are acetone, acetoacetate, and β -OHB, with β -OHB being the most abundant circulating ketone body in the blood (Lopaschuk & Dyck, 2023).

1.2.1 Endogenous Metabolism of Ketone Bodies

Ketogenesis is the endogenous production of ketone bodies from free fatty acids by the liver (**Figure 2**) (Puchalska & Crawford, 2017). A reduction in available carbohydrate energy stores stimulates lipolysis and fatty acid oxidation, which increases the amount of circulating free fatty acids (Poff *et al.*, 2020). Free fatty acids are brought into the liver through carnitine palmitoyl transferase (CPT). Within the liver mitochondria, free fatty acids are converted to acetoacetate and β -OHB and acetoacetate can be released by the liver into the circulation through monocarboxylate transporters (MCT) where they are taken up by peripheral tissues such as the brain, heart, and skeletal muscle. β -OHB and acetoacetate enter the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle within the mitochondria and are converted to Acetyl-CoA to eventually generate ATP through oxidative phosphorlyation (Yurista *et al.*, 2021).



Figure 2. Endogenous ketone body production in the liver and ketone body metabolism in peripheral tissues. Dashed arrows delineate multiple-step metabolic reactions. Modified from Yurista *et al.* (2021).

1.2.2 Nutritional Ketosis and Exogenous Ketone Sources

Nutritional ketosis is the elevation of blood β -OHB concentrations ≥ 0.5 mM and can be achieved either through dietary modifications (i.e., fasting or ketogenic diet) or through exogenous ketone sources (Poff *et al.*, 2020). Exogenous ketone sources can be administered via infusion or oral supplements. Sodium β -OHB is the primary compound used for infusion, whereas the composition of oral supplements include direct ketone bodies (i.e., β -OHB) and indirect ketogenic precursors which stimulate ketone body production (i.e., medium chain triglycerides). The plasma concentration of ketones achieved via dietary modifications differ considerably compared to exogenous interventions. Consumption of a ketogenic (low-carbohydrate, high-fat) diet for 2-4 days will raise blood ketone concentrations beyond 0.5 mM, however blood ketones will generally not rise beyond 1.5 mM in sustained ketogenic diets (Wilson & Lowery, 2017). Similarly, an overnight fast (~12 hours) will achieve blood β -OHB concentrations of 0.5 mM, with prolonged fasting inducing progressive increases in blood ketones (3 days: ~2 mM) (Owen & Reichard,

1971). For comparison, blood ketone concentrations ~ 2 mM can be achieved within 30 minutes of intravenous infusion (Svart *et al.*, 2018) or within 15-30 minutes after supplementation with an oral ketone supplement (Stubbs *et al.*, 2017; Dearlove *et al.*, 2019). As such, nutritional ketosis is achieved much quicker with exogenous ketone sources rather than the endogenous production of ketone bodies through dietary modifications, which requires stimulation by a reduction in available glucose stores in tissue.

Exogenous ketone sources primarily exist in three main forms: medium-chain triglycerides (MCTs), ketone salts (KS), and ketone esters (KE). MCTs contain a glycerol backbone esterified to medium-chain fatty acids and are rapidly digested as their non-polar structure does not require CPT for uptake into tissue mitochondria (Masino, 2022). Once inside the mitochondria, the free fatty acids from the MCTs can be converted into ketone bodies in a similar fashion to endogenous ketogenesis. KS and KE primarily contain the ketone body β -OHB incorporated within its structure. KS consist of a salt (i.e., sodium) attached to β -OHB, whereas KE consist of an ester (i.e., 1,3-butanediol) attached to β-OHB (Masino, 2022). KS are typically administered via intravenous infusion or oral supplements, where they dissociate in solution, before entering the circulation (Stubbs et al., 2017). Alternatively, KE are often ingested orally and cleaved by liver and gut esterases before being rapidly absorbed into the bloodstream (Stubbs et al., 2017). Both KS and KE are absorbed into the circulation as quickly as 15-20 minutes post-ingestion where they can be transported to peripheral tissues for metabolism (Stubbs et al., 2017). Rapid absorption of β-OHB also occurs even in the presence of adequate glucose supply (Svart et al., 2018). However, KE supplementation is more effective than KS at sustaining ketosis and able to achieve higher peak blood ketone concentrations (KS: ~ 1 mM; KE: 3-5 mM) (Stubbs et al., 2017). The remainder

of this review will focus on KE, however studies using alternative exogenous ketone sources will be mentioned throughout.

1.3 Beneficial Effects of Exogenous β-OHB

Beyond its role as an alternative metabolic fuel, there is emerging evidence that β -OHB is also a signaling molecule that has marked effects on human physiology (Newman & Verdin, 2017). These include direct and indirect effects on central and peripheral hemodynamics like cardiac output (CO) and CBF, upregulation of neurotrophins and growth factors critical for the maintenance of brain health, and possibly benefits to cognition. A growing body of evidence from *in vitro* models, rodent models, and some human studies suggest that provision of β -OHB via exogenous sources may have therapeutic applications in conditions like heart failure and neurodegenerative diseases.

1.3.1 Haemodynamic Effects

In general, exposure to exogenous β -OHB sources increases CO, through both increases in stroke volume (SV) and heart rate (HR) (Nielsen *et al.*, 2019; Oneglia *et al.*, 2023). Three-hour infusion of KS increases CO measured via cardiac ultrasonography by 2.0 L/min through both SV ($20 \pm 2 \text{ mL}$) and HR ($7\pm 2 \text{ bpm}$), in both patients with heart failure and age-matched controls (Nielsen *et al.*, 2019). Oral ingestion of a single KE dose also increases CO by 1 L/min measured 60 minutes post-ingestion, primarily driven by increases in HR and small increases in SV (Oneglia *et al.*, 2023). These changes were detected using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, which can generate detailed structural images and functional measures (i.e., blood flow) of the heart. Collectively, this evidence suggests that β -OHB likely exerts larger effects on cardiac chronotropy via pacemaker cells within the heart, rather than cardiac contractility (Oneglia *et al.*, 2023). In

support of this, a recent trial using KE supplementation observed increased HR, but not CO, during submaximal exercise in the KE group compared to a placebo condition (McCarthy *et al.*, 2023).

Exogenous β -OHB sources may also exert beneficial effects on vascular function. Research in animal models demonstrates that β -OHB may improve vascular function through a myriad of signaling pathways including reductions in oxidative stress and inflammation (Maalouf *et al.*, 2007; Kim *et al.*, 2007; Youm *et al.*, 2015), increased angiogenesis (Weis *et al.*, 2022), or through direct action on the vascular endothelium to cause vasodilation (Han *et al.*, 2018; McCarthy *et al.*, 2021*a*). There are limited studies to date that have demonstrated improved vascular function in humans. One study demonstrated that 14 days of thrice-daily supplementation with oral KE improved flow-mediated dilation of the brachial artery in adults with obesity (Walsh *et al.*, 2021*b*). However, it is unknown whether improved vascular function was due to direct vascular effects of β -OHB, or indirectly through improved glycemic control and/or reduced cellular inflammation with KE supplementation (Walsh *et al.*, 2021*b*).

Exogenous ketone sources containing β -OHB likely do not have a large impact on MAP. β -OHB infusion likely does not alter MAP (Svart *et al.*, 2018). Additonally, findings from studies involving effects of exogenous ketone supplements on MAP are inconsistent. Some studies have reported increases in MAP (Selvaraj *et al.*, 2022), while others have shown decreases in MAP (Myette-Côté *et al.*, 2019). However, multiple acute and chronic studies have reported no change in MAP (O'Connor *et al.*, 2018; Stefan *et al.*, 2021). This is supported by a recent meta-analysis which showed that there is no effect of either acute or chronic exogenous β -OHB supplementation on systolic blood pressure (SBP) or diastolic blood pressure (DBP) (Marcotte-Chénard *et al.*, 2024). Normally, an increase in CO would result in an increase in MAP. However, β -OHB may induce systemic vasodilation and decrease total peripheral resistance (Homilius *et al.*, 2023),

which may explain findings of elevated CO without increases in MAP following exogenous β -OHB exposure. Further, this review included studies that did not have blood pressure as their primary outcome, which could result in trials that were statistically underpowered to detect possible changes in MAP from exogenous ketone interventions. Nonetheless, there is little evidence to suggest that exogenous β -OHB interventions have a large impact on MAP.

1.3.2 CBF and Cerebral Metabolism

β-OHB has been increasingly gaining recognition for its potential to improve brain health. Deleterious alterations to CBF and cerebral metabolism are implicated in neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (Croteau *et al.*, 2018; Korte *et al.*, 2020). Interventions that elevate plasma β-OHB have demonstrated improvements in CBF and substantial shifts in cerebral metabolism in healthy adults (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018), as well as clinical populations with or at higher risk of developing neurodegenerative diseases (Croteau *et al.*, 2018; Torosyan *et al.*, 2018; Walsh *et al.*, 2021*a*).

β-OHB infusion increases CBF and reduces cerebral glucose metabolism while maintaining oxygen consumption by cerebral tissues (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018). One of the earliest β-OHB infusion studies used the Kety-Schmidt technique to assess global cerebral blood flow in young adults (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996). This technique measures cerebral blood flow via serial arterial and venous blood sampling of a diffusible tracer (¹³³Xe). Blood flow is then calculated as the difference in area between the arterial and venous washout curves of the tracer. In this study, intravenous infusion of KS for 3-3.5 hours led to a 39% increase in CBF relative to saline infusion and achieved peak blood β-OHB concentrations of approximately 2.16 mM. Similarly, Svart *et al.* (2018) infused sodium β-OHB intravenously for 4 hours, but used a higher infusion rate compared to Hasselbalch *et al.* (1996) and tested this intervention in middle-

to-older aged adults (mean age = 62 years). Using positron emission tomography, they observed a 30% increase in CBF relative to saline infusion and peak blood β -OHB concentrations of 5.5 mM. Despite different peak blood β -OHB concentrations, both studies demonstrated a reduction in cerebral glucose metabolic rate, with no change in cerebral oxygen metabolism (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018). This suggests that brain ketone uptake with exogenous β -OHB is regulated by the availability of plasma β -OHB and not alterations in glucose availability. The brain appears to readily oxidize β -OHB, despite sufficient carbohydrate supply, when it is present in elevated concentrations in the blood (i.e., greater than 0.5 mM) (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, this increase in oxygen supply through enhanced CBF, but unchanged oxygen utilization, may be contributing to the potential neuroprotective effects of β -OHB (Svart *et al.*, 2018).

Interestingly, these large CBF responses to β -OHB-infusion in humans are not due to alterations in some of the most prominent regulators of CBF, such as in P_aCO₂, pH, or mean arterial pressure (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018). Research conducted in animal models and humans suggests that reductions in oxidative stress and small alterations in cellular redox potential may contribute to increased CBF via β -OHB exposure (Vlassenko *et al.*, 2006; Maalouf *et al.*, 2007; Kim *et al.*, 2007; Shimazu *et al.*, 2013; Xin *et al.*, 2018). Excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) production can lower resting CBF, which has been linked to the development of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's (Zhu *et al.*, 2007). Cell culture (Maalouf *et al.*, 2007; Shimazu *et al.*, 2013) and animal model studies (Kim *et al.*, 2007) have both demonstrated reductions in ROS production with β -OHB exposure. This suggests that a decline in ROS production may be contributing to increases in CBF observed with exogenous β -OHB treatments. Changes to astrocyte redox potential may also help facilitate changes to CBF with β -OHB

interventions (Vlassenko *et al.*, 2006; Xin *et al.*, 2018). The conversion of β -OHB into acetoacetate requires NAD⁺ to produce Acetyl-CoA. As β -OHB is used to fuel ATP production, this leads to an increase in the cytosolic NADH:NAD⁺ ratio. Increased cytosolic NADH:NAD⁺ has been independently linked to increases in CBF (Vlassenko *et al.*, 2006), which suggests that exogenous β -OHB sources could be enhancing CBF by altering astrocyte redox potential.

The effects of oral β -OHB supplements on CBF and cerebral metabolism have been less researched compared to infusion trials, with most studies employing chronic designs in clinical populations with or at a higher risk of developing neurodegenerative diseases. Thrice-daily supplementation with a 12 g KE supplement for 14 days improves cerebral blood flow (VA: +11%; Common Carotid Artery: +12%) compared to a placebo drink in adults with obesity (Walsh et al., 2021a) in the fasted, non-supplemented state (i.e., no β -OHB in the blood). However, ingestion of a single KE (0.482 g/kg body mass) does not alter common carotid artery flow in the two-hour period following an oral glucose tolerance test in adults with obesity (Myette-Côté et al., 2019). This suggests that prolonged and/or repeated exposure to β -OHB through chronic oral β -OHB supplementation interventions may be necessary for improvements in CBF to be observed. Though they are not direct sources of β -OHB, oral MCTs trials in Alzheimer's patients have also demonstrated beneficial effects to both CBF and cerebral metabolism. Specifically, 45 days of daily supplementation with MCTs oil (caprylidene) improved regional cerebral blood flow relative to a placebo in APOE4-negative patients with Alzheimer's disease (Torosyan et al., 2018). Another MCTs trial in Alzheimer's patients demonstrated increases in cerebral metabolism with 30 days of MCTs supplementation (Croteau et al., 2018). The availability of an alternative metabolic fuel (i.e., β -OHB) for the brain may be neuroprotective in Alzheimer's, a pathology where glucose hypometabolism is common and detrimental to brain health and function (Croteau *et al.*, 2018).

Despite these promising results, no research to date has looked at the acute effects of oral β -OHB supplementation, specifically KE, on CBF in young adults. Additionally, both the single dose protocols and heterogeneity in the β -OHB supplement dose used in past studies make it difficult to isolate the relationship between β -OHB supplement dose and CBF. Thus, it remains unknown whether different doses of oral β -OHB supplements differentially impact CBF regulation in young adults.

1.3.3 Effects on Cognitive Function

In addition to exerting effects on cerebrovascular physiology, exogenous β -OHB improves psychological outcomes related to cognition. In particular, interventions with exogenous β -OHB have been associated with improved cognitive performance in domains such as working memory, attention, and executive function in both healthy and clinical populations (Jensen *et al.*, 2020*b*, 2020*a*; Yomogida *et al.*, 2021; Walsh *et al.*, 2021*a*; Quinones & Lemon, 2022; Waldman *et al.*, 2023*a*). KS infusion improves working memory performance on the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale letter-number-sequencing task in individuals with type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Jensen *et al.*, 2020*a*). Similarly, acute ingestion of MCTs improves executive function on the N-back test and Go/No-Go task in healthy older adults (Yomogida *et al.*, 2021). Even though MCTs do not raise blood β -OHB concentrations as high as KS (0.65 mM versus 2.4 mM in Jensen *et al.* (2020)), beneficial effects on cognitive performance were still observed.

Improved cognitive performance on a battery of psychological tests may be due to a shift in cerebral metabolism with elevated plasma β -OHB (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018). This metabolic shift has been shown to improve functional connectivity between neuronal networks (Mujica-Parodi *et al.*, 2020). Specifically, a single KE supplement (0.395 g/kg body mass; peak blood β -OHB: 3.5 mM) improves brain network stability, which is a surrogate for

cognition, as quickly as 30 minutes post-ingestion in normoglycemic young adults (Mujica-Parodi *et al.*, 2020). This is likely a result of direct ketone uptake within the brain, as magnetic resonance spectroscopy data from the same study demonstrates that ketone concentrations in the brain reach peak concentrations around 30 minutes after KE ingestion and remain elevated for at least 80 minutes post-ingestion (Mujica-Parodi *et al.*, 2020). Collectively, these results suggest that nutritional ketosis is at least partially responsible for these observed benefits to brain function, rather than merely a compensation for cerebral glucose hypometabolism in T2D (Jensen *et al.*, 2020*a*) and Alzheimer's disease (Szablewski, 2021).

Enhanced cognition may also be facilitated by augmented CBF via exogenous β-OHB interventions (Walsh et al., 2021a). Walsh et al. (2021) demonstrated that thrice-daily KE supplementation for 14 days improves both CBF and cognitive performance on the Digit Symbol Substitution Test in individuals with obesity. This test primarily assesses the domains of attention, executive function, and processing speed. In particular, there was a positive relationship observed between VA flow and DSST performance. Given that CBF and cognitive function in this trial were assessed in the fasting state, this suggests that persistent increases in CBF may contribute to facilitating improvements in cognitive function with KME supplementation. However, acute changes in CBF do not necessarily cause corresponding changes to cognitive function. In particular, acute decreases in CBF via pharmacological interventions do not lead to decreases in cognitive performance in healthy young and older adults (Shoemaker et al., 2020). This may be due to increased oxygen extraction to compensate for reduced oxygen delivery via CBF, thus matching cerebral metabolic demand and preserving cognitive function. However, these compensations likely only occur to a certain point with acute exposure, as chronic reductions in CBF that occur with increasing age (Leenders et al., 1990) or impaired glucose metabolism (Deery

et al., 2024) are heavily implicated in the development of neurodegenerative pathologies like Alzheimer's disease (Korte *et al.*, 2020). Nonetheless, no studies to date have assessed CBF and cognitive performance concurrently in response to exogenous β -OHB supplementation in healthy adults. Further studies that primarily focus on CBF in a non-rested state (i.e., actively performing a cognitive task) will be needed to uncover if acute changes to CBF directly translate to changes in cognitive performance with exogenous β -OHB sources.

1.4 β-OHB Dose and Metabolic Acidosis – A Threat to CBF?

Despite the encouraging findings of β -OHB increasing CBF from KS infusion trials, there is growing evidence that oral KE supplements may perturb blood pH homestasis and thus threaten CBF regulation. Ingestion of oral KE causes dose-dependent lowering of blood pH at rest, with higher doses reducing pH beyond normal homeostatic levels (7.35-7.45) (Stubbs *et al.*, 2017; Dearlove *et al.*, 2021). A high-dose KE (0.752 g/kg body mass) significantly lowers blood pH (Δ 0.03) compared to a low-dose KE (0.252 g/kg body mass) at rest (Dearlove *et al.*, 2021). Blood acidosis is likely a direct result of KE hydrolysis in the gut. KE supplements are hydrolyzed by esterases in the gut and liver to produce β -OHB and 1,3-butanediol, and 1,3-butanediol further undergoes hepatic metabolism to form β -OHB (Clarke *et al.*, 2012). β -OHB is a weak organic acid and ingestion of oral KE can lower blood pH (Stubbs *et al.*, 2017; Dearlove *et al.*, 2019). Indeed, blood β -OHB concentrations between 2-4 mM have been shown to induce blood acidosis (Stubbs *et al.*, 2017; Dearlove *et al.*, 2019).

Disruptions to blood pH are quickly corrected via respiratory compensations. When blood pH drops, the blood bicarbonate buffer system increases CO_2 production to remove free H⁺ ions from the circulation (**Figure 1**). Higher P_aCO_2 is sensed by peripheral chemoreceptors which stimulate the respiratory centers in the medulla oblongata and pons of the brainstem to increase

breathing rate (i.e., hyperventilation) (Ikeda et al., 2017; Gallo de Moraes & Surani, 2019). This is demonstrated in submaximal exercise trials with KE supplementation. In one trial, participants had significantly higher HR and ventilation during exercise (peak blood β -OHB: 3.9 mM) after prior consumption of a 0.6 g/kg KE dose, compared to a placebo beverage (McCarthy et al., 2021b). Increased ventilation with KE supplementation quickly removes CO₂ from the blood in an effort to restore acid-base balance (Figure 1). In support of this, another exercise trial observed significantly higher ventilation and lower end-tidal CO₂ (P_{ET}CO₂) during an incremental cycling test to exhaustion (peak blood β-OHB: 3.7 mM) when consuming a 0.33 g/kg body mass KE before exercise, compared to a placebo drink (Dearlove et al., 2019). Contrarily, these effects have not been observed following consumption of lower KE doses (0.15 g/kg body mass) (Stubbs et al., 2017). Further, KS infusion, which increases CBF, does not alter $P_{ET}CO_2$ (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996). This evidence suggests that specifically bolus KE ingestion lowers P_aCO_2 (represented by $P_{ET}CO_2$), when consumed at doses high enough to lower blood pH. P_aCO_2 is a primary regulator of CBF and reductions in PaCO2 cause cerebral vasoconstriction, which subsequently lowers CBF (Querido & Sheel, 2007). This suggests that different oral KE doses of β -OHB may exert differential effects on CBF, where higher KE doses may cause reductions in CBF due to blood acidosis and alterations in P_aCO_2 (Figure 3). In turn, lower KE doses which do not perturb acidbase balance may exert beneficial effects on CBF, similar to past β-OHB infusion studies. As such, there is a need for a systematic characterization of how acute oral KE consumption impacts CBF regulation in young adults.



Figure 3. Potential mechanism of the influence of changes in P_aCO₂ via high doses of KE on CBF.

1.5 Summary

Exogenous ketone sources containing β -OHB represent a novel therapeutic intervention that may improve brain health and function through the lifespan. Treatment with exogenous β -OHB may be exerting neuroprotective effects by improving CBF (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018; Walsh *et al.*, 2021*a*), shifting cerebral metabolism (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018), and directly reducing inflammation (Youm *et al.*, 2015; Walsh *et al.*, 2021*b*) and oxidative stress (Maalouf *et al.*, 2007; Kim *et al.*, 2007; Shimazu *et al.*, 2013). These physiological effects may also contribute to improvements in functional outcomes such as neuronal network function (Mujica-Parodi *et al.*, 2022; Waldman *et al.*, 2023*a*). Despite this promising evidence, significant knowledge gaps remain concerning the acute effects of oral KE supplementation on resting CBF and cognitive function in young adults. Future research should build upon the known effects of exogenous β -OHB supplements on cerebral and systemic physiology in order to establish a clear picture of how exogenous β -OHB impacts the brain.

1.5.1 Purpose and Hypothesis for the kCBF Study

The purpose of this study is to investigate the effect of oral KE dose (low versus high) on resting CBF and cognition in normoglycemic adults. We hypothesize that CBF at the timepoint corresponding to the highest mean blood [β -OHB] will be increased after ingestion of 0.3 g/kg body mass KE and decreased after ingestion of 0.6 g/kg body mass KE, as compared to ingestion of a ketone-free placebo. Further, we anticipate that cognitive performance, measured via a hippocampal-dependent memory task, will be positively related to improvements in CBF.

<u>Chapter 2: The Effects of Acute Ketone Monoester Ingestion on Resting Cerebral Blood</u> Flow and Cognition in Young Adults

2.1 Introduction

Production of the ketone body beta-hydroxybutyrate (β -OHB) is increased during periods of energetic stress, including prolonged exercise, fasting, or severe carbohydrate restriction (i.e., ketogenic diets) (Cox & Clarke, 2014; Masino, 2022). In these scenarios, fatty acids are mobilized from adipose tissue and converted into β -OHB by the liver, where it is transported to peripheral tissues including the brain, heart, and skeletal muscle to support metabolism in the presence of low glucose (Puchalska & Crawford, 2017; Poff *et al.*, 2020). Elevated plasma β-OHB is a biological starvation signal that exerts pleiotropic effects throughout the body (Newman & Verdin, 2017), including regulating gene expression via histone deacetylase inhibition (Shimazu et al., 2013), mitigating oxidative stress (Kim et al., 2007), and reducing markers of inflammation (Youm et al., 2015; Walsh *et al.*, 2021*b*). Until recently, appreciably elevating circulating β -OHB levels was only achievable via prolonged fasting or marked carbohydrate restriction. The recent development of oral exogenous ketone supplements provides a novel method of inducing rapid, nutritional ketosis that is safe for human consumption (Soto-Mota et al., 2019), representing an opportunity to investigate the effects of β -OHB *per se* on human physiology and a potentially therapeutic tool for improving human health.

Mounting evidence supports the potential beneficial effects of elevated β -OHB for brain health in humans. Infusion of sodium β -OHB increases cerebral blood flow (CBF) by 39% in young adults, achieving peak blood β -OHB concentrations of approximately 2.16 mM (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996). Similarly, sodium β -OHB infusion increases CBF by 30% in middleto-older aged adults and elevates blood β -OHB concentrations to a peak of 5.5 mM (Svart *et al.*, 2018). The mechanisms underlying the rapid modulation of CBF with acute β -OHB exposure are

not well understood and likely stem from a combination of direct and indirect vascular effects, including reductions in inflammation (Youm *et al.*, 2015; Bae *et al.*, 2016; Goldberg *et al.*, 2017; Yamanashi *et al.*, 2017) and oxidative stress (Maalouf *et al.*, 2007; Kim *et al.*, 2007; Shimazu *et al.*, 2013), and direct vasodilatory effects (McCarthy *et al.*, 2021*a*). Changes in cerebral substrate utilization may also increase CBF via alterations in astrocyte redox potential. Cerebral glucose metabolism is reduced by 14 to 33% in the presence of elevated plasma β -OHB, without altering cerebral oxygen metabolism (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018). This shift in cerebral metabolism alters the redox potential within astrocytes and enhances the sensitivity of neurovascular coupling, thereby increasing CBF (Mintun *et al.*, 2004; Vlassenko *et al.*, 2006).

β-OHB infusion studies provide compelling evidence that exogenous β-OHB can increase CBF in humans and a recent trial demonstrates that 14 days of thrice-daily ketone monoester (KME) supplementation increases resting CBF by 12% in the fasted, non-supplemented state in adults with obesity (Walsh *et al.*, 2021*a*). However, it is currently unknown how a single dose of exogenous KME impacts acute CBF regulation. Further, it is unclear whether differences in KME dose differentially affect CBF regulation. Interestingly, recent studies have shown that KME ingestion at higher doses can perturb blood pH, which could negatively impact CBF. Indeed, β-OHB is a weak organic acid and bolus ingestion of an oral KME with a dose greater than 0.33 g/kg body mass lowers blood pH outside of the homeostatic range (Stubbs *et al.*, 2017; Dearlove *et al.*, 2019). Previous work has shown that disturbances to blood pH following KME ingestion are quickly buffered by the blood bicarbonate buffering system and increased ventilation to remove the resultant excess CO₂ from the blood (Dearlove *et al.*, 2019; McCarthy *et al.*, 2021*b*). However, arterial CO₂ (P_aCO₂) is an important regulator of CBF, and reductions in P_aCO₂ lower CBF via cerebral vasoconstriction (Hoiland *et al.*, 2019; Caldwell *et al.*, 2021). This suggests that different

KME doses may exert differential effects on CBF, perhaps due to alterations in P_aCO_2 . Thus, there is a crucial need to investigate the impact of different KME doses on CBF, to characterize the basic physiological responses of KME ingestion on CBF and brain health.

Provision of exogenous β -OHB has also been shown to improve performance in numerous domains of cognitive function. Indeed, acute sodium β -OHB infusion in individuals with T2D improves working memory (Jensen *et al.*, 2020*a*) and oral KME ingestion prior to and/or during exercise trials improves attention, reaction time, and executive functions in healthy adults (Evans & Egan, 2018; Quinones & Lemon, 2022; Poffé *et al.*, 2023; Waldman *et al.*, 2023*a*). Acute KME ingestion has also been shown to improve brain network stability, which is a surrogate for cognition (Mujica-Parodi *et al.*, 2020). However, no study to date has investigated the effects of different KME doses on cognitive function at rest in young adults. Acute KME ingestion may improve hippocampal-dependent functions through increases in circulating neurotrophins, such as brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Indeed, rodent and *in vitro* models demonstrate that β -OHB exposure increases BDNF gene expression in hippocampal neurons (Sleiman *et al.*, 2016; Marosi *et al.*, 2016; Hu *et al.*, 2018, 2020). Accordingly, assessing the acute effects of KME dose on memory performance is highly warranted to contribute to our understanding of how KME ingestion may impact brain health.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the effect of two separate KME doses (lowand high-dose) on resting CBF and cognition in young adults. We hypothesized that CBF would be increased after ingestion of a low-dose KME and decreased after ingestion of a high-dose KME over a 2-hour period, as compared to ingestion of an inert placebo, due to dose-dependent alterations in P_aCO_2 . Further, we hypothesized that performance on a hippocampal memory task would be positively related to changes in CBF after KME ingestion. This systematic
characterization of the dose-dependent effects of KME on these vital components of brain health is critical to establish the foundation of the potential therapeutic effects of this common exogenous β -OHB treatment.

2.2 Methods

This study reports the primary outcomes from a trial registered as 'Ketone Dose and Cerebral Blood Flow Study (kCBF)' (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier NCT06032156). This trial was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (Project ID: 15454) (refer to appendix F for the HiREB approval letter), and all participants provided written informed consent prior to beginning participation in this study. The trial conformed with the standards set by the Declaration of Helsinki and subsequent revisions.

2.2.1 Participants

Healthy, normoglycemic adults between the ages of 18-35 years were recruited from McMaster University in Hamilton, ON and the greater Hamilton area between September 2023 and April 2024. Exclusion criteria were the presence of obesity (body mass index >30 kg/m²), the presence of any cardiometabolic disease (e.g., T2D, hypertension), having a history of cardiovascular disease or cardiovascular events requiring hospitalization (i.e., heart attack), having a history of concussion(s) with persistent symptoms, and currently following a ketogenic diet or taking ketone supplements. Interested participants who self-reported being eligible based on the above exclusion criteria were invited for an in-person familiarization visit.



Figure 1. Schematic displaying trial flowchart.

2.2.2 Familiarization and VO_{2peak} Testing

Prior to condition randomization, eligible participants completed a familiarization visit to obtain anthropometric measures of height and body mass, practice the mnemonic similarity task (MST) cognitive testing paradigm (Stark *et al.*, 2019), and complete a graded exercise test to exhaustion to measure cardiorespiratory fitness. Participants completed the MST during this familiarization visit to ensure every participant understood how the test was conducted and to minimize possible learning effects. Even though the MST has strong resistance to learning effects from repeated testing (Stark *et al.*, 2023), the MST was still introduced in the familiarization visit to further prevent any impact of repeated testing on the cognitive function results from this trial. As well, resting CBF measurements were obtained using Duplex ultrasound (Terason uSmart 3300; Teratech, Burlington, MA, USA) of the internal carotid and vertebral arteries to ensure that viable scans could be obtained before proceeding to the experimental visits.

To characterize peak rate of oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_{2peak}$), participants completed a graded exercise test to volitional exhaustion on a cycling ergometer (Kettler Ergo Race, Kettler,

Virginia Beach, VA). The test consisted of a 3-minute warmup at 50 W, followed by increases of 5 W every 10 s until participants were unable to sustain a cadence above 60 revolutions per minute, upon which the test was terminated. Breath-by-breath expired gases and ventilation were recorded using a metabolic cart (Quark CPET Metabolic Cart, COSMED, Italy) and heart rate was measured using a chest strap monitor (Polar A3, Lake Success, New York). A 'true' $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was classified as successfully meeting at least three out of four possible criteria during the test: 1) Respiratory exchange ratio ≥ 1.13 ; 2) Max heart rate (beats per minute) $\geq (208-0.7*age)*0.93$); 3) Perceived exertion ≥ 17 (Borg Scale); or 4) Rate of oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_2$) plateau (values ± 0.1 L/min for 3 10-second consecutive recording windows). $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was calculated as the mean of the three highest 10-second recording windows of $\dot{V}O_2$ during the test.

2.2.3 Supplement Details

The ketone supplement used in the study (Delta G Ketone, T Δ S, Oxford) is commercially available in 1L bottles which contain 1070g of the ketone monoester [*R*]-3-hydroxybutyl [*R*]-3hydroxybutyrate. For the low-dose KME condition, participants consumed 0.3 g/kg body mass of the ketone monoester. For the high-dose KME condition, participants consumed 0.6 g/kg body mass of the ketone monoester. The mean β -OHB dose delivered was 20.56 ± 3.03 g (low-dose KME) and 41.12 ± 6.06 g (high-dose KME), given a mean participant body mass of 68.52 ± 10.11 kg. The placebo stock contained 0.0007% BitrexTM (Denatonium Benzoate NF, Johnson Mathey, UK) and 0.25% xanthan gum to match the taste and viscosity of the ketone monoester. Supplements were dispensed into 60 mL opaque bottles. The placebo supplement contained 60 mL of the placebo stock and two drops of calorie-free lemonade flavouring. The remainder of the bottle for the ketone dose conditions was filled with placebo stock and two drops of calorie-free lemon juice flavouring to reach a total volume of 60 mL. Once the supplements were made, the bottles were labelled with the participant's ID and visit number by a third-party researcher not involved in data collection. Blinding was maintained until the completion of data collection and analysis.

2.2.4 Experimental Visits

A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, counterbalanced, crossover design was used to test three conditions: Placebo, Low-dose KME (0.3 g/kg body mass), and High-dose KME (0.6 g/kg body mass). Participants were randomly assigned to 1 of 6 treatment orders by a third-party researcher not involved in data collection using a random number generator in a counterbalanced manner.

Participants attended the Brain Exercise Enhancement Laboratory at McMaster University three separate times, separated by at least 72 hours to ensure no carry-over of previous experimental visits. Female participants were asked to report whether they take contraceptives using a menstrual cycle questionnaire (see appendix A for a copy of the menstrual cycle questionnaire). Visits for female participants were conducted during days 0-6 of the follicular phase (or placebo phase for contraceptive users) of their menstrual cycle to control for any potential effects of menstrual cycle phase on the outcomes of this study. Experimental visits occurred at the same time of day for a given individual. Participants were instructed to abstain from consuming alcohol, caffeine, food, or drink (excluding water) for at least 8 hours prior, and to abstain from vigorous physical activity for at least 24 hours prior to each experimental visit. During the first visit, participants completed a dietary recall questionnaire to record their food and drink consumption in the 24 hours prior to their first experimental visit (see appendix B for a copy of the dietary recall questionnaire). Participants were asked to replicate the same diet in the 24 hours prior to each subsequent visit as closely as possible. Participants also filled out the 'Consensus Sleep Diary', a questionnaire asking about their sleep quality the night before each

visit (Carney *et al.*, 2012), as reductions in sleep quality have been associated with reductions in CBF (Park *et al.*, 2019). The 'Consensus Sleep Diary' can be viewed in Appendix C.

Following completion of intake procedures, participants lay supine and were instrumented with a three-lead electrocardiogram (PowerLab model ML795, AD Instruments, CO, USA) and a non-invasive blood pressure finger cuff (Human NIBP Nano System, model INL382, AD Instruments) for continuous heart rate (HR) and blood pressure (MAP) measurements. An intravenous catheter was inserted into a vein at the elbow for serial blood sampling. Following instrumentation, baseline measures of CBF using Duplex (Terason uSmart 3300 NexGen; Teratech, Burlington, MA, USA) and Transcranial Doppler ultrasound (Neurovision, Multigon Industries), hemodynamics, end-tidal gases, and blood were obtained over a 5-minute collection window. Participants then completed baseline cognitive testing for approximately 15 minutes in a seated position. Upon completion of cognitive testing, participants completed a questionnaire consisting of the intrinsic motivation subscale of the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI) (Ryan, 1982; Ryan *et al.*, 1983). The intrinsic motivation subscale of the IMI can be viewed in Appendix D.

Following collection of baseline measures, participants were provided with a supplement in an opaque bottle to ingest. The complete ingestion of the drink was considered the 0-minute time marker of the protocol and a stopwatch was started to track elapsed time. Over the subsequent 2-hour period, CBF, end-tidal CO₂, MAP, and HR were collected over 5-minute recording windows at 45- and 120-min post-ingestion. Blood samples were obtained 30-, 45-, 60-, and 120min post-ingestion. Participants completed post-supplementation cognitive testing at 130-min, following completion of the final physiological measure assessment. Finally, participants completed the intrinsic motivation questionnaire and a questionnaire regarding gastrointestinal symptoms that may have occurred over the course of the protocol after drink consumption (see appendix E for the gastrointenstinal symptom questionnaire). Figure 2 displays the study protocol for each experimental visit.



Figure 2. Schematic overview of the experimental protocol. Images created using biorender.com

2.2.5 Haemodynamic and Respiratory Measurements

MAP and HR were collected with an automated brachial cuff sphygmomanometer (OMRON Healthcare Co. Ltd, Kyoto, Japan). The mean value of the three measurements was used for analysis of each variable. End-tidal CO₂ ($P_{ET}CO_2$) was collected using a gas analyzer (PowerLab model ML795, ADInstruments, Colorado Springs, CO, USA). Participants were fitted with a mouthpiece and nose clip before commencing recordings of breath-by-breath gas exchange. The mean value of $P_{ET}CO_2$ during the 5-min recording window was used for analysis. This time period encompassed both the ICA and VA scanning periods.

2.2.6 Middle Cerebral Artery Blood Velocity

Blood velocity of the middle cerebral artery (MCAv) was assessed using a 2 MHz Transcranial Doppler ultrasound (NeuroVision, Multigon Industries, NY, USA) in accordance with localization and signal optimization procedures previously described (Willie *et al.*, 2011). The

ultrasound probe was affixed to the participant's right temporal window using a specialized headband. Recordings included in analysis contained complete waveforms for ≥ 12 consecutive cardiac cycles. The mean value of MCAv during the longest string of consecutive complete waveforms in each recording window was used for analysis. The between-day coefficient of variation for MCAv was 9.8%.

2.2.7 Global Cerebral Blood Flow Assessment

Vessel diameter and blood velocity of the internal carotid (ICA) and vertebral arteries (VA) were measured using a 10 MHz multifrequency linear array Duplex ultrasound (Terason uSmart 3300 NexGen; Teratech, Burlington, MA, USA) following recommendations for location and procedure standardization (Thomas et al., 2015). Peak blood velocity and arterial diameter were viewed simultaneously using B-mode imaging via the pulse-wave mode feature of the ultrasound machine. ICA blood velocity and vessel diameter were measured ≥ 1.5 cm from the carotid artery bifurcation to minimize retrograde flow. Blood velocity and vessel diameter of the VA were measured between C4 and C5 or C5 and C6. The recording location within the vessel was individualized and optimized during each participant's first CBF recording to allow for reliable image acquisition. Recordings were almost exclusively taken from the right ICA and VA, unless image quality was poor, then the left ICA and/or VA was used in substitution. This location was unchanged within participants and between trials. The same insonation angle was used for all recordings (60°). Following acquisition of the first ultrasound image, B-mode gain and dynamic range were unaltered to minimize variability in arterial wall brightness and/or thickness between recordings. ICA and VA diameter and blood velocity were recorded for at least 1 minute using a screen capturing software (Camtasia 2022, TechSmith). Viable recordings included ≥ 12 cardiac cycles. Offline analysis involved the use of custom-edge detection and wall tracking software

(BloodFlow analysis, version 6.1). This analysis software mitigates observer bias by establishing diameter and velocity traces without the need for manual caliper placement by the researcher (Woodman *et al.*, 2001). Mean beat to beat artery flow was sampled at 30 Hz from the selected recording and calculated automatically from these traces (Woodman *et al.*, 2001). The between-day coefficients of variation for ICA and VA diameter were 3.2% and 2.7%, respectively.

Mean arterial pressure (MAP) was calculated as:

$$MAP = DBP + ((SBP-DBP)/3)$$

Blood flow (Q) was calculated as:

Q = (mean envelope blood velocity / 2) x (π x (0.5 x diameter)²) x 60

Global cerebral blood flow (gCBF) was calculated as:

$$gCBF = 2 x (Q_{ICA} + Q_{VA})$$

Mean shear rate was calculated as:

Shear Rate = 4 x (mean envelope blood velocity/diameter)

Cerebrovascular conductance (CVC) was calculated as:

$$CVC = Q_{ICA}, Q_{VA}, gCBF/MAP$$

2.2.8 Hippocampal-Dependent Function Assessment (Mnemonic Similarity Task)

The mnemonic similarity task (MST) was used to assess high-interference episodic memory, a form of hippocampal-dependent memory (Stark *et al.*, 2019). This test was chosen because of the hippocampal-specific effects of β -OHB observed in rodent and animal models (Sleiman *et al.*, 2016; Marosi *et al.*, 2016; Hu *et al.*, 2018, 2020). The MST is comprised of two main phases, each about 10 min in length and administered via a computer (MST version 0.96). In phase 1, participants engaged in an incidental encoding task, where they made 'indoor' or 'outdoor'

judgments for pictures of everyday objects. Immediately following this task, participants were given a new series of images in phase 2 and were instructed to identify each item as 'old', 'similar', or 'new'. One-third of the images in the test phase were exact repetitions of images presented in the study phase (targets), one-third of the images were new images not previously seen (foils), and one-third of the images were perceptually similar to those seen during the study phase, but not identical (lures). Participants completed the MST a total of 6 times over three separate visits. Each iteration of the test used a different image set of the same length and difficulty (Sets 1-6) to prevent learning effects. The set presentation order was randomized for each participant using a random number generator and counterbalanced.

To assess cognitive performance on the MST, the lure discrimination index (LDI) served as a measure of how well participants discerned between targets and lures. The LDI was calculated as the rate of correctly answering 'Similar' when presented with a lure image subtracted by the rate of incorrectly answering 'Similar' when presented with a foil image. In addition, the recognition memory score (REC) was calculated to quantify the difference between the rate of 'Old' responses for targets and the rate of 'Old' responses for foils, to serve as a measure of recognition memory for repeated items (targets).

Lure discrimination index (LDI) was calculated as:

LDI = Similar | Lure – Similar | Foil

Recognition memory score (REC) was calculated as:

REC = Old | Target - Old | Foil

2.2.9 Intrinsic Motivation

Intrinsic motivation was assessed immediately following cognitive testing using a subjective questionnaire from the IMI (Ryan, 1982; Ryan *et al.*, 1983). Participants rated their motivation by indicating how well they agreed to 7 different statements about the cognitive test they just performed using an analog scale (1 – not at all true; 4 – somewhat true; 7 – very true).

2.2.10 Plasma β-OHB

A point-of-care analyzer (FreeStyle Libre, Abbott) was used to measure plasma β -OHB in venous blood. If venous blood could not be obtained, capillary blood was used in substitution. Venous blood was drawn in serum separator tubes and K2 EDTA tubes (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). For the determination of plasma β -OHB, venous blood obtained at baseline, 30-, 45-, 60-, and 120-min post-ingestion was used. A researcher not involved in data acquisition or analysis recorded venous β -OHB concentrations to maintain blinding.

2.2.11 Sample Size Determination

To date, there has been no previous investigations of the acute effects of KME ingestion on resting CBF nor has there been a characterization of the potential dose-response effects. Previous infusion trials have reported increased gCBF ranging from 30 to 39% (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018), whereas our previous trial found that 14-d of KME ingestion increased gCBF by 12% in the fasted, non-supplemented state in adults with obesity (Walsh *et al.*, 2021*a*). Accordingly, we conducted a sample size estimation based on the hypothesis that dose-dependent differences in gCBF would occur at the measurement time point corresponding with peak plasma β -OHB, which was determined as 45-min post-ingestion based on recent pilot work. A sample size estimation in G*Power (version 3.1) revealed that n =19 provided 80% power at an alpha level of

0.05 with an effect size partial eta squared of 0.23 using a within-factors one-way analysis of variance (3 conditions x 1 time point) (see appendix G for the sample size estimation). The effect size estimation was based on a 12% change in CBF and the associated measurement error, as based on previous published work (Walsh *et al.*, 2021*a*) as well as pilot data from our lab. To preserve power, 20 adults were recruited and randomized (10 male & 10 female).

2.2.12 Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using the Jamovi software for Mac (version 2.5.7.0) and R Studio (R Core Team, version 4.3.3). Q-Q plots and Shapiro-Wilk tests were used to assess normality and skewness. All normal values are expressed as mean \pm SD. Differences between condition in CBF at 45-min post-ingestion were assessed using a 1-way repeated-measures ANOVA (1 group, 3 measurements). This timepoint was chosen as it was identified as the timepoint of peak β -OHB levels in the blood after KME ingestion in previous pilot work. The "predict" function in R used a linear mixed effects model (LMM) created using the lme4 package (Bates et al., 2015) to predict one gCBF data point that was removed due to poor image quality, for the repeated-measures ANOVA. The LMM contained fixed effects of time, condition, as well as time by condition interaction, and participant ID was included as a random effect. LMM with the same fixed and random effects were used for all experimental variables to assess differences over the 2-hour period post-ingestion. β -OHB area-under-the-curve (AUC) for the low- and highdose conditions was analyzed using a paired samples t-test. Holm's post-hoc comparisons were conducted for any outcomes with significant (P < 0.05) effects of time, condition, or time by condition interaction. Effect sizes are presented as Cohen's d for paired-samples t-test, partial eta squared (n_p^2) for ANOVA, and coefficient of determination (R²) for linear regression. For exploratory purposes, a correlation matrix was applied between changes in $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ and changes in

other measured variables significantly affected by time or condition. Significant correlations (P < 0.05) were followed by regression analyses.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Participants

Participant characteristics are displayed in Table 1. A total of 9 males and 10 females completed all experimental visits, and 1 male participant completed 2 out of 3 experimental visits and was included in linear-mixed model analyses. Subjectively reported sleep prior to experimental visits was consistent between visits for individual participants. Subjectively reported gastrointestinal symptoms from drink consumption (placebo, low-dose KME, and high-dose KME) were very low and no major adverse reactions occurred. Participants also correctly predicted the given supplement at a rate of 39%. Finally, all participants achieved a true $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$, as defined by criteria mentioned previously.

	Female (n = 10)	Male (n = 10)	Group (n = 20)
Age (years)	22 ± 2	24 ± 4	23 ± 3
Body mass (kg)	62.47 ± 9.11	74.57 ± 7.17*	68.52 ± 10.11
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.99 ± 2.50	23.88 ± 1.80	23.43 ± 2.17
VO _{2peak} (mL/kg/min)	37.95 ± 5.85	50.91 ± 8.71*	44.43 ± 9.82
[range]	[32.39, 48.89]	[38.1, 64.15]	[32.39, 64.15]
Contraceptive users (%)	50% (5/10)	N/A	N/A
Years of Education	16 ± 2	18 ± 3	17 ± 3

 Table 1. Participant characteristics.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. BMI = body mass index; \dot{VO}_{2peak} = peak rate of oxygen consumption. * = P < 0.05 compared to female.

2.3.2 Plasma β-OHB

Peak plasma β -OHB in the low-dose condition was 2.97 mM and occurred at 45-min postingestion (**Figure 3A**). In the high-dose condition, peak plasma β -OHB was 4.72 mM and occurred at 120-min post-ingestion (**Figure 3A**). β -OHB area-under-the-curve (AUC) for the low-dose condition (285 ± 58.9 mM x 120 min) was also significantly lower than the β -OHB AUC for the high-dose condition (458 ± 99.9 mM x 120 min) (P < 0.001) (**Figure 3B**).



Figure 3. Plasma β -OHB. β -OHB concentrations (**A**) and area-under-the-curve (AUC) (**B**) over the 120min intervention period. Data are presented as mean \pm SD. Individual data are represented as open triangles and open squares in **B**. * = P < 0.05 compared to baseline (low-dose KME); # = P < 0.05 compared to baseline (high-dose KME); & = P < 0.05 compared to low-dose KME.

2.3.3 Cerebral Blood Flow and Cerebrovascular Outcomes

All cerebrovascular measures are presented in Table 2. At 45-min post-ingestion, gCBF was 31.5 mL/min lower (P = 0.022) in the low-dose condition and 30.0 mL/min lower in the high-dose condition (P = 0.168), relative to the placebo condition (**Figure 4A**). Compared to baseline measures, low-dose and high-dose KME ingestion significantly decreased gCBF over the 2-hour intervention (time * condition interaction, P < 0.001) (**Figure 4B**). At 45-min post-ingestion, gCBF was reduced by 10.4% in the low-dose condition (P = 0.008), and by 14.0% in the high-dose condition (P < 0.001), relative to baseline. At 120-min post-ingestion, gCBF was 6.2% lower compared to baseline in the low-dose condition (P = 0.393). In the high-dose condition, gCBF was reduced by 18.6% at 120-min post-ingestion (P < 0.001), relative to baseline. Cerebrovascular conductance for gCBF was also significantly reduced with both low-dose and high-dose KME ingestion (time * condition interaction, P = 0.003). Further, gCBF remained unchanged at both 45-min and 120-min post-ingestion in the placebo condition.

Regional changes in extracranial artery blood flow are reported in **Figure 6**. There was a main interaction effect of KME ingestion on ICA flow (time * condition interaction, P < 0.001) (**Figure 6A**). Post-hoc comparisons revealed that high-dose KME ingestion significantly reduced ICA flow relative to baseline. In the high-dose condition, ICA flow decreased by 14.5% at 45-min post-ingestion (P < 0.001) and by 17.8% at 120-min post-ingestion (P < 0.001). ICA flow decreased by 9.0% at 45-min post-ingestion (P = 0.152) and by 7.0% at 120-min post-ingestion (P = 0.496), compared to baseline in the low-dose condition. ICA cerebrovascular conductance was significantly lower in both the low- and high-dose conditions (time * condition interaction, P = 0.013). Further, there was an interaction effect of KME ingestion on ICA diameter (time * condition interaction, P = 0.031); however, post-hoc comparisons revealed no significant differences in either KME condition relative to baseline. ICA shear rate was not different in the

low-dose and high-dose conditions (time * condition interaction, P = 0.525). All ICA cerebrovascular measures (flow, diameter, and shear rate) did not significantly differ from baseline in the placebo conditions.

VA flow was significantly lower in both the low- and high-dose conditions (time * condition interaction, P = 0.011) (**Figure 6B**). In the low-dose condition, VA flow decreased by 14.6% at 45-min post-ingestion (P = 0.012) relative to baseline and returned to near-baseline values at 120-min post-ingestion. High-dose KME ingestion decreased VA flow by 12.1% at 45-min post-ingestion (P = 0.089), and by 20.1% at 120-min post-ingestion (P < 0.001), relative to baseline. Low-dose and high-dose KME ingestion both significantly reduced VA cerebrovascular conductance (time * condition interaction, P = 0.035). There was also a main interaction effect of KME ingestion on VA diameter (time * condition interaction, P < 0.001), which was significantly reduced in only the high-dose KME condition (45-min: P = 0.006; 120-min: P < 0.001). VA shear rate was not different following KME ingestion compared to baseline (time * condition interaction, P = 0.270), and all cerebrovascular measures (flow, diameter, and shear rate) were unchanged in the placebo condition, relative to baseline.

There was a main interaction effect of KME ingestion on MCAv (time * condition interaction, P = 0.037) (**Figure 6C**). Post-hoc comparisons revealed that high-dose KME ingestion significantly lowered MCAv at 120-min post-ingestion, relative to baseline ($\Delta 15.6\%$, P < 0.001). Further, cerebrovascular conductance for MCAv was not significantly altered with KME ingestion (time * condition interaction, P = 0.066). All cerebrovascular measures (velocity and cerebrovascular conductance) for the MCA were unchanged in the placebo condition, relative to baseline.
 Table 2. Cerebrovascular measures.

	Baseline	45-min	120-min
Global CBF (mL/min)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> = 0.042; Interaction, <i>P</i> < 0.001		
LOW	518 ± 105	464 ± 72*	486 ± 87
	[471, 565]	[417, 511]	[439, 533]
HIGH	544 ± 125	468 ± 90*	443 ± 86*
	[497, 591]	[421, 514]	[396, 490]
PLACEBO	513 ± 110	491 ± 104	511 ± 103
	[466, 560]	[444, 538]	[465, 558]
ICA flow (mL/min)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> = 0.170; Interaction, <i>P</i> < 0.001		
LOW	199 ± 50	181 ± 37	185 ± 37
	[178, 220]	[160, 202]	[164, 206]
HIGH	214 ± 54	183 ± 41*	176 ± 37*
	[193, 235]	[162, 204]	[155, 197]
PLACEBO	197 ± 48	189 ± 46	200 ± 46
	[176, 218]	[169, 210]	[179, 221]
VA flow (mL/min)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Interaction, <i>P</i> = 0.011		
LOW	60.2 ± 22.0	51.4 ± 17.7*	57.9 ± 23.9
	[51.2, 69.2]	[42.4, 60.4]	[48.9, 67.0]
HIGH	57.8 ± 19.2	50.8 ± 18.0	46.2 ± 16.1*
	[48.9, 66.8]	[41.8, 59.8]	[37.3, 55.2]
PLACEBO	59.5 ± 20.8	53.9 ± 19.4	55.8 ± 17.7
	[50.5, 68.5]	[44.9, 63.0]	[46.8, 64.7]
MCA velocity (cm/s)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Interaction, <i>P</i> = 0.037		

M. Sc. Thesis – Aedan J.	Rourke; McMaster	University -	Kinesiology
--------------------------	------------------	--------------	-------------

LOW	72.4 ± 12.7	66.2 ± 11.9	68.3 ± 9.2	
	[67.0, 77.8]	[60.7, 71.7]	[62.6, 74.0]	
HIGH	66.5 ± 13.5	60.8 ± 13.6	56.1 ± 13.2*	
	[61.1, 71.9]	[55.3, 66.2]	[50.5, 61.7]	
PLACEBO	70.2 ± 8.6	66.3 ± 8.5	69.8 ± 7.4	
	[64.7, 75.6]	[60.7, 71.9]	[64.3, 75.4]	
ICA diameter (cm)	Time, $P = 0.030$; Condition, $P = 0.026$; Interaction, $P = 0.031$			
LOW	0.457 ± 0.040	0.455 ± 0.041	0.461 ± 0.039	
	[0.439, 0.476]	[0.436, 0.473]	[0.443, 0.480]	
HIGH	0.474 ± 0.042	0.460 ± 0.040	0.461 ± 0.041	
	[0.456, 0.492]	[0.441, 0.478]	[0.442, 0.479]	
PLACEBO	0.462 ± 0.040	0.459 ± 0.039	0.468 ± 0.039	
	[0.444, 0.481]	[0.441, 0.478]	[0.450, 0.487]	
VA diameter (cm)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Interaction, <i>P</i> < 0.001			
LOW	0.359 ± 0.045	0.349 ± 0.041	0.355 ± 0.047	
	[0.340, 0.379]	[0.330, 0.369]	[0.336, 0.375]	
HIGH	0.358 ± 0.040	$0.345 \pm 0.038*$	$0.342 \pm 0.041*$	
	[0.338, 0.377]	[0.326, 0.365]	[0.323, 0.362]	
PLACEBO	0.356 ± 0.043	0.357 ± 0.041	0.360 ± 0.041	
	[0.337, 0.376]	[0.338, 0.376]	[0.341, 0.379]	
ICA shear rate (1/s)	Time , <i>P</i> = 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> = 0.302; Interaction, <i>P</i> = 0.431			
LOW	353 ± 100	329 ± 82	321 ± 71	
	[314, 393]	[290, 368]	[282, 360]	
HIGH	344 ± 94	323 ± 80	312 ± 71	
	[305, 383]	[284, 362]	[272, 351]	
PLACEBO	339 ± 81	335 ± 89	333 ± 80	

VA shear rate (1/s)	Time , <i>P</i> = 0.012; Condition, <i>P</i> = 0.778; Interaction, <i>P</i> = 0.270		
LOW	211 ± 47	198 ± 39	208 ± 42
	[190, 232]	[178, 218]	[187, 229]
HIGH	212 ± 49	205 ± 51	191 ± 46
	[191, 233]	[184, 226]	[171, 212]
PLACEBO	218 ± 47	197 ± 43	203 ± 46
	[197, 238]	[176, 218]	[183, 224]
ICA CVC (mL/min/mmHg)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001 ; Condition, <i>P</i> = 0.515; Interaction, <i>P</i> = 0.013		
LOW	2.47 ± 0.69	$2.16 \pm 0.49*$	2.20 ± 0.48
	[2.20, 2.74]	[1.89, 2.43]	[1.94, 2.47]
HIGH	2.63 ± 0.68	$2.20 \pm 0.50*$	$2.13 \pm 0.44*$
	[2.36, 2.89]	[1.93, 2.46]	[1.86, 2.40]
PLACEBO	2.42 ± 0.65	2.22 ± 0.56	2.36 ± 0.56
	[2.15, 2.68]	[1.96, 2.49]	[2.09, 2.62]
VA CVC (mL/min/mmHg)	Time, $P < 0.001$; Condition, $P = 0.002$; Interaction, $P = 0.035$		
LOW	0.740 ± 0.268	$0.610 \pm 0.211*$	0.683 ± 0.265
	[0.632, 0.849]	[0.502, 0.719]	[0.574, 0.791]
HIGH	0.708 ± 0.229	$0.608 \pm 0.212*$	0.553 ± 0.175*
	[0.599, 0.816]	[0.499, 0.716]	[0.444, 0.662]
PLACEBO	0.729 ± 0.272	0.635 ± 0.247	0.659 ± 0.216
	[0.621, 0.837]	[0.526, 0.743]	[0.551, 0.767]
gCBF CVC (mL/min/mmHg)	Time , <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> = 0.330; Interaction , <i>P</i> = 0.003		
LOW	6.42 ± 1.39	5.54 ± 0.93*	5.77 ± 1.02*
	[5.84, 7.00]	[4.96, 6.12]	[5.19, 6.35]
HIGH	6.67 ± 1.51	5.61 ± 1.08*	5.35 ± 1.03*
	[6.09, 7.25]	[5.03, 6.19]	[4.76, 5.93]

PLACEBO	6.30 ± 1.49	5.76 ± 1.28	6.04 ± 1.27
	[5.72, 6.87]	[5.17, 6.34]	[3.42, 6.39]
MCAv CVC (cm/s/mmHg)	Time , <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Interaction, <i>P</i> = 0.066		
LOW	0.899 ± 0.155	0.791 ± 0.136	0.816 ± 0.096
	[0.830, 0.969]	[0.720, 0.861]	[0.743, 0.889]
HIGH	$0.822 \pm 0.170;$	0.736 ± 0.181	0.677 ± 0.152
	[0.753, 0.891]	[0.666, 0.807]	[0.605, 0.750]
PLACEBO	0.865 ± 0.135	0.775 ± 0.125	0.827 ± 0.085
	[0.795, 0.935]	[0.703, 0.847]	[0.756, 0.898]

Data are presented as the estimated marginal means \pm SD; [95% Confidence Interval]. * = P < 0.05 compared to baseline within condition.



Figure 4. Group global CBF (gCBF) responses. Global CBF at 45-min post-ingestion (**A**) and over the 120-min intervention (**B**) for the high-dose KME (open triangles), low-dose KME (open squares), and placebo (open circles) conditions. Data are presented as mean \pm SD. Individual data are represented as open symbols in **B**. * = *P* < 0.05 compared to baseline measures (low-dose KME); # = *P* < 0.05 compared to baseline measures (high-dose KME).



Figure 5. Individual global CBF (gCBF) responses in the low-dose KME (**A**), high-dose KME (**B**), and placebo (**C**) conditions. Group means are enlarged in black. * = P < 0.05 compared to baseline measures (low-dose KME); # = P < 0.05 compared to baseline measures (high-dose KME).



Figure 6. Regional CBF responses. ICA flow (A), VA flow (B), and MCA velocity (C) for the high-dose KME (open triangles), low-dose KME (open squares), and placebo (open circles) conditions. Data are presented as mean \pm SD. * = P < 0.05 compared to baseline measures (low-dose KME); # = P < 0.05 compared to baseline measures (high-dose KME).

2.3.4 Haemodynamic and Respiratory Responses

Haemodynamic and respiratory measures are displayed in Table 3. Relative to baseline, KME ingestion significantly elevated HR by 9.8% and 19.2% at 45-min post-ingestion in the low (P = 0.002) and high-dose conditions (P < 0.001), respectively. At 120-min post-ingestion, HR increased by 6.1% relative to baseline in the low-dose condition (P = 0.480). In the high-dose condition, HR remained significantly elevated relative to baseline at 120-min post-ingestion (Δ 19.5%; P < 0.001). HR did not change at either 45-min or 120-min in the placebo condition. No changes in MAP were observed with KME ingestion (time * condition interaction, P =0.701). There was a main effect of condition for MAP (P = 0.031), and post-hoc analyses revealed a significant difference between the high-dose and placebo conditions, likely driven by an increase in MAP in the placebo condition.

KME ingestion significantly decreased $P_{ET}CO_2$ (time * condition interaction, P < 0.001). $P_{ET}CO_2$ decreased by 5.7% (Δ -2.16 ± 1.65 mmHg) at 45-min post-ingestion (P < 0.001) and by 4.42% (Δ -1.74 ± 1.44 mmHg) at 120-min post-ingestion (P = 0.003), relative to baseline in the low-dose condition. In the high-dose condition, $P_{ET}CO_2$ decreased by 8.8% (Δ -3.45 ± 1.75 mmHg) at 45-min post-ingestion (P < 0.001) and 10.0% (Δ -3.94 ± 1.85 mmHg) at 120-min postingestion (P < 0.001), relative to baseline. Further, the percent change in $P_{ET}CO_2$ was significantly positively correlated with the corresponding percent change in gCBF (P < 0.001, R^2 = 0.219) (**Figure 7C**). $P_{ET}CO_2$ did not change at either 45-min post-ingestion or 120-min postingestion in the placebo condition.

	Baseline (BSL)	45-min	120-min
P _{ET} CO ₂ (mmHg)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Interaction, <i>P</i> < 0.001		
LOW	38.5 ± 2.6	36.3 ± 2.7*	36.8 ± 2.9*
	[37.1, 39.9]	[34.9, 37.8]	[35.3, 38.2]
HIGH	38.8 ± 2.6	35.4 ± 3.0*	34.9 ± 2.7*
	[37.4, 40.2]	[34.0, 36.8]	[33.5, 36.3]
PLACEBO	38.4 ± 3.7	38.3 ± 3.3	38.6 ± 3.8
	[37.0, 39.8]	[36.9, 39.7]	[37.2, 40.0]
HR (bpm)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Interaction, <i>P</i> < 0.001		
LOW	61.0 ± 6.2	67.0 ± 7.7*	64.7 ± 6.9
	[57.4, 64.7]	[63.3, 70.6]	[61.0, 68.4]
HIGH	59.9 ± 8.5	71.4 ± 11.9*	71.6 ± 8.5*
	[56.3, 63.6]	[67.8, 75.1]	[68.0, 75.3]
PLACEBO	60.8 ± 7.5	58.8 ± 7.4	59.1 ± 6.0
	[57.2, 64.5]	[55.1, 62.4]	[55.5, 62.8]
MAP (mmHg)	Time, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Condition, <i>P</i> = 0.031; Interaction, <i>P</i> = 0.701		
LOW	81.2 ± 6.6	84.2 ± 6.8	84.5 ± 6.7
	[78.1, 84.2]	[81.1, 87.3]	[81.4, 87.5]
HIGH	81.9 ± 5.9	83.7 ± 5.5	83.5 ± 6.5
	[78.8, 84.9]	[80.6, 86.7]	[80.4, 86.5]
PLACEBO	82.4 ± 8.1	85.8 ± 7.2	85.1 ± 6.6
	[79.4, 85.5]	[82.7, 88.8]	[82.1, 88.2]

 Table 3. Hemodynamic and respiratory measures.

Data are presented as the estimated marginal means \pm SD; [95% Confidence Interval]. * = P < 0.05 compared to baseline within condition.



Figure 7. Global CBF (gCBF) versus end-tidal CO₂ ($P_{ET}CO_2$) in the low-dose KME (**A**) and high-dose KME (**B**) conditions. Data are presented as estimated marginal means for gCBF and $P_{ET}CO_2$ for baseline (BSL), 45-min post-ingestion (45-min), and 120-min post-ingestion (120-min) \pm SD ($P_{ET}CO_2$ – horizontal error bars) and \pm 95% confidence interval (gCBF – vertical error bars). **C**) Percent change in $P_{ET}CO_2$ versus percent change in gCBF in the low-dose (open squares), high-dose (open triangles), and placebo (open circles) conditions.

2.3.5 Hippocampal-Dependent Function

Hippocampal-dependent function, represented by the lure discrimination index (LDI) and recognition memory score (REC) from the MST, did not change after acute KME ingestion (time * condition interaction, P = 0.915) (Figure 8). Intrinsic motivation also did not differ between conditions (time * condition interaction, P = 0.795).



Figure 8. Hippocampal-dependent memory performance. Individual responses in lure discrimination index (LDI) (**A**) and recognition memory score (REC) (**B**) from the MST in the low-dose KME, high-dose KME, and placebo conditions. Responses are shown as the LDI (**A**) or REC (**B**) at 120-min post-ingestion relative to baseline measures within conditions. Group means are enlarged in black.

2.3.6 Exploratory Correlations

We explored relationships between β -OHB parameters and individual participant characteristics. $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was significantly correlated with changes in plasma β -OHB at 120-min post-ingestion in the low-dose condition (P = 0.002; $R^2 = 0.453$). Participants with higher $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ tended to have lower blood β -OHB concentrations after low-dose KME ingestion. $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was also significantly associated with β -OHB AUC in the low-dose condition (P = 0.011; $R^2 = 0.323$), where higher $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was correlated with lower β -OHB AUC over 120 min (**Figure 9A**). However, this relationship was not present in the high-dose condition (P = 0.452) (**Figure 9B**).



Figure 9. Exploratory correlations. β -OHB area-under-the-curve (AUC) versus peak rate of oxygen consumption (\dot{VO}_{2peak}) in the low-dose KME condition (**A**) and the high-dose KME condition (**B**). Individual data are represented by black squares.

2.4 Discussion

The purpose of this trial was to characterize the effect of different doses of an oral KME on resting CBF and cognition over a 2-hour period in young adults. We hypothesized that low-dose KME ingestion would improve CBF and cognitive performance, whereas acute high-dose KME ingestion would reduce CBF and cognitive performance. The main findings were: 1) low-dose and high-dose KME lower CBF similarly at 45-min post-ingestion; 2) CBF returns closer to baseline levels with low-dose KME, whereas reductions are sustained with high-dose KME at 120-min post-ingestion; 3) $P_{ET}CO_2$ was reduced in a dose-dependent manner, which mirrored reductions in CBF; and 4) both low-dose and high-dose KME ingestion do not impact performance on a task of hippocampal-dependent memory. Collectively, these findings suggest that acute KME ingestion significantly alters CBF regulation, which may be due to reductions in P_aCO_2 . However, reductions in CBF following KME ingestion did not impact cognitive performance.

Previous trials have shown that acute infusion of sodium β-OHB elevates CBF by 30 (peak plasma β-OHB: 5.5 mM) to 39% (peak plasma β-OHB: 2.19 mM) (Hasselbalch *et al.*, 1996; Svart *et al.*, 2018). Contrary to these findings, we observed that ingestion of either a high- or low-dose KME significantly reduces resting gCBF within 45 min post-ingestion, which closely corresponded with peak plasma β-OHB. At 45-min post-ingestion in the low-dose condition, gCBF was 10.4% lower compared to baseline, corresponding with plasma β-OHB of 2.97 mM. Interestingly, gCBF displayed a return closer to baseline levels at 120-min, which was paralleled by a reduction in plasma β-OHB to 2.37 mM. In the high-dose condition, gCBF was reduced by 14.0% at 45-min, with plasma β-OHB at 4.07 mM. At 120-min post-ingestion, further reductions in gCBF (Δ18.0%) and increases in plasma β-OHB concentrations occurred (peak: 4.72 mM), relative to baseline. These changes persisted when accounting for MAP, as cerebrovascular conductance was significantly reduced in both the low- and high-dose KME conditions. We

attribute these observations of reduced CBF to the dose-dependent lowering of P_aCO_2 (represented as $P_{ET}CO_2$) following KME ingestion. $P_{ET}CO_2$ significantly decreased at the same timepoints as gCBF after ingestion of low- and high-dose KME, and $P_{ET}CO_2$ at 120-min post-ingestion was significantly different between the low and high-dose KME conditions. Changes in P_aCO_2 have a strong influence on cerebral vessel tone and resistance at rest (Smith & Ainslie, 2017). In support of this, we observed that there was a moderate positive correlation between percent changes in $P_{ET}CO_2$ and percent changes in gCBF following KME ingestion. Collectively, these results suggest that increases in cerebrovascular resistance and/or alterations in vessel tone are contributing to the observed reductions in blood flow in both the low- and high-dose KME conditions.

β-OHB delivered via KME supplements acts as a weak organic acid in the blood, leading to declines in pH at rest (Clarke *et al.*, 2012; Stubbs *et al.*, 2017; Dearlove *et al.*, 2019, 2021; McCarthy *et al.*, 2023). A recent trial demonstrates that KME ingestion (0.33 g/kg body mass) elevates ventilation at rest, as well as during an incremental cycling test to exhaustion (Dearlove *et al.*, 2019), likely to compensate for the blood pH disturbance imposed by KME. Similarly, consumption of a 0.6 g/kg body mass KME prior to exercise also elevates ventilation during submaximal cycling compared to a placebo drink (McCarthy *et al.*, 2021*b*). Initially, the blood bicarbonate buffer system will increase CO₂ production when blood pH is reduced. This is sensed by peripheral chemoreceptors which stimulate the medulla and pons in the brainstem to increase ventilation (Ikeda *et al.*, 2017; Gallo de Moraes & Surani, 2019). Ultimately, hyperventilation reduces P_{ET}CO₂ (Dearlove *et al.*, 2019; McCarthy *et al.*, 2021*b*). As CO₂ can readily cross the blood-brain barrier, reductions in P_aCO₂ decrease the intracellular [H⁺] within vascular smooth muscle cells (Hoiland *et al.*, 2019; Duffin *et al.*, 2021; Caldwell *et al.*, 2021). This initiates a cascade of signalling events which ultimately increases intracellular [Ca²⁺], causing cerebral

vasoconstriction and reduced CBF (Duffin *et al.*, 2021). Although arterial pH was not measured in the current study, the modulation of arterial pH with maintained P_aCO₂ via end-tidal clamping produces no change in CBF in humans, which suggests that CO₂ levels in the blood ultimately drive corresponding changes in CBF (Lambertsen *et al.*, 1961; Caldwell *et al.*, 2021). In summary, this trial provides strong evidence for the potential involvement of arterial CO₂ in mediating CBF responses to KME ingestion.

KME ingestion also impacted factors that contribute to elevated CBF such as HR and MAP. Indeed, we observed that peak HR relative to baseline was 6 bpm higher in the low-dose condition and 11 bpm higher in the high-dose condition. This is consistent with previous studies, as a single KME dose (0.714 g/kg) increases HR by 9 bpm in young adults (Selvaraj et al., 2022). Another study demonstrated an increase in CO of 2.0 L/min with acute KME ingestion (0.483 g/kg), likely due to β -OHB exerting signaling effects on cardiac chronotropy via pacemaker cells within the heart (Oneglia et al., 2023). We also observed no effect of KME ingestion on MAP in this trial, which is supported by a recent meta-analysis combining both KS and KME trials which demonstrated no effect of exogenous ketone supplementation on either SBP or DBP (Marcotte-Chénard *et al.*, 2024). However, β -OHB may cause systemic vasodilation and decrease total peripheral resistance (Selvaraj et al., 2022; Homilius et al., 2023), which may explain our finding of increased HR, and presumably CO, without any change in MAP after KME ingestion. CBF regulation is sensitive to changes in MAP, and somewhat sensitive to CO, in the resting state (Willie et al., 2014). In general, increases in CO lead to increases in CBF (Ogoh et al., 2005); however, we likely did not observe these effects due to the lowering of P_aCO₂. Nonetheless, it is possible that β-OHB-induced elevations in HR may be mitigating the observed reductions in gCBF in this trial. The current evidence from this trial suggests that CBF responses from KME ingestion

are likely driven by compensatory physiological responses to acute stressors, which may mask the proposed beneficial effects of β -OHB signalling on CBF in humans.

We assessed hippocampal dependent memory because evidence from rodent and in vitro models have demonstrated that β -OHB exposure improves hippocampal neuron function, particularly through increasing BDNF expression (Sleiman et al., 2016; Marosi et al., 2016; Hu et al., 2018, 2020). Contrary to our hypotheses, low- and high-dose KME ingestion do not impact cognitive performance despite reductions in CBF. This finding is in contrast to past studies which have shown improvements to cognitive function, relative to a placebo condition, using a wide variety of KME doses; 0.75 g/kg (Evans & Egan, 2018), 25 g initial + 12.5 g every 30 min during an ultra-marathon (Poffé et al., 2023), 25 g (Quinones & Lemon, 2022), and 0.375 g/kg + 6% carbohydrate solution (Waldman et al., 2023a). Our findings are also disparate from a recent trial displaying that a single KME dose (0.395 g/kg) improves neuronal network function at rest compared to a placebo (Mujica-Parodi et al., 2020). However, one past trial has reported no change in cognitive function with acute KME ingestion (0.188 g/kg) prior to exercise (Waldman et al., 2023b). Differences in the cognitive domain tested and experimental protocol (i.e., prolonged exercise or mental fatiguing tasks) may contribute to these disparate findings. Cognitive improvements in past KME studies were observed in domains such as attention and executive function, which were not specifically assessed in this study. This trial employed a single cognitive test which primarily assesses hippocampal-dependent functions, such as pattern separation and high-interference memory (Stark et al., 2019). We also plan to analyze plasma and serum BDNF concentrations at a later date, in an effort to uncover possible mechanisms behind these findings.

This present study is also not the first to demonstrate no changes to cognitive function, despite reductions in CBF. Our findings are consistent with a recent study showing that

pharmacologically induced reductions in CBF do not alter cognitive performance on a variety of tasks in healthy young and older adults (Shoemaker *et al.*, 2020). However, this relationship is likely not persistent beyond acute exposure, as chronic reductions in CBF are heavily implicated in the development of neurodegenerative pathologies like Alzheimer's disease (Korte *et al.*, 2020).

We also conducted exploratory analyses to examine whether cardiorespiratory fitness (i.e., \dot{VO}_{2peak}) and/or biological sex were correlated to changes in outcomes significantly affected by KME ingestion. Peak β -OHB concentrations at 45- and 120-min post-ingestion, as well as β -OHB AUC, after low-dose KME ingestion were negatively correlated with \dot{VO}_{2peak} . It is speculated that higher cardiorespiratory fitness could be contributing to lower β -OHB exposure via greater metabolic flexibility and/or removal capacity, thus contributing to increased clearance of β -OHB from the blood. However, this may not be the case with higher β -OHB exposure, as this relationship was not present in the high-dose KME condition. The exact physiological mechanisms responsible for this observation remain unknown.

2.4.1 Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions

This double-blinded, crossover, counterbalanced, placebo-controlled trial provides valuable insight on CBF regulation and cognitive function after acute KME ingestion. The current study addresses crucial knowledge gaps regarding the effects of KME supplements on CBF and cognitive function. Most importantly, this trial provides a foundational characterization of the relationship between KME dose and CBF regulation at rest with KME, which had not been done previously. However, this study does contain a few limitations worth addressing. This study employed resting CBF as the only measure of cerebrovascular physiology, which does not fully represent functional aspects of brain health. Future studies are needed to uncover how acute KME ingestion impacts cerebrovascular function, such as with a cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ or

visual stimulation (i.e., neurovascular coupling) tasks. Further, it is unclear whether CBF is only lowered beyond the doses chosen in the study due to the absence of an additional lower KME dose (i.e., 0.15 g/kg body mass). The investigation of lower KME doses should be conducted to clarify this characterization of CBF responses to acute KME ingestion. Finally, the observed relationship between $P_{ET}CO_2$ and CBF in this experimental design does not definitively establish the causal link between changes in P_aCO_2 and changes in CBF. Protocols involving end-tidal clamping of CO_2 should be used to corroborate evidence from this trial to quantify the involvement of arterial CO_2 in the mediation of CBF responses to acute KME ingestion. Future studies should also focus on developing strategies to prevent perturbations to acid-base homeostasis with oral KME ingestion, to determine if the same oral KME doses from this study can exert beneficial effects on CBF and cognition. This could be further supplemented with longer supplementation protocols to determine the chronic impact of oral KME on brain health and function. Despite these limitations, this rigorous and well-controlled study design provides confidence in the observed effects from this study.

2.4.2 Conclusion

In conclusion, acute KME ingestion lowered resting CBF in a manner where responses differed between the low- and high-dose conditions, in young adults. These reductions were likely due to corresponding reductions in P_aCO_2 that were dependent on β -OHB dose. Despite reductions in CBF, cognitive performance was not altered with acute KME ingestion. The recent advent of KME supplements provides an exciting potential tool for protecting and improving brain health. The findings from this study are crucial to first understand how different doses of KME impact resting CBF and cognition before we can recommend the therapeutic use of KME supplements.

This research provides novel and significant insight for informing the foundation of therapeutic effects of exogenous β -OHB for protecting and improving brain health in humans.

References

- Ainslie PN & Duffin J (2009). Integration of cerebrovascular CO 2 reactivity and chemoreflex control of breathing: mechanisms of regulation, measurement, and interpretation. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **296**, 1473–1495.
- Attwell D, Buchan AM, Charpak S, Lauritzen M, MacVicar BA & Newman EA (2010). Glial and neuronal control of brain blood flow. *Nature* **468**, 232–243.
- Bae HR, Kim DH, Park MH, Lee B, Kim MJ, Lee EK, Chung KW, Kim SM, Im DS & Chung HY (2016). β-Hydroxybutyrate suppresses inflammasome formation by ameliorating endoplasmic reticulum stress via AMPK activation. *Oncotarget* **7**, 66444.
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B & Walker S (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. *J Stat Softw* 67, 1–48.
- Battisti-Charbonney A, Fisher J & Duffin J (2011). The cerebrovascular response to carbon dioxide in humans. *Journal of Physiology* **589**, 3039–3048.
- Bisson M, Marc I & Brassard P (2016). Cerebral blood flow regulation, exercise and pregnancy: Why should we care? *Clin Sci*; DOI: 10.1042/CS20150694.
- Brassard P, Tymko MM & Ainslie PN (2017). Sympathetic control of the brain circulation: Appreciating the complexities to better understand the controversy. *Autonomic Neuroscience* **207**, 37–47.
- Caldwell H, Carr J, Minhas J, Swenson E & Ainslie P (2021). Acid–base balance and cerebrovascular regulation. *J Physiol*; DOI: 10.1113/JP281517.
- Carney CE, Buysse DJ, Ancoli-Israel S, Edinger JD, Krystal AD, Lichstein KL & Morin CM (2012). The consensus sleep diary: standardizing prospective sleep self-monitoring. *Sleep* **35**, 287–302.
- Carr JMJR, Caldwell HG & Ainslie PN (2021). Cerebral blood flow, cerebrovascular reactivity and their influence on ventilatory sensitivity. *Exp Physiol* **106**, 1425–1448.
- Cauli B, Dusart I & Li D (2023). Lactate as a determinant of neuronal excitability, neuroenergetics and beyond. *Neurobiol Dis* 184, 106207.
- Claassen J, Thijssen D, Panerai R & Faraci F (2021). Regulation of cerebral blood flowin humans: Physiology and clinical implications of autoregulation. *Physiol Rev*; DOI: 10.1152/physrev.00022.2020.
- Clarke K, Tchabanenko K, Pawlosky R, Carter E, King M, Musa-Veloso K, Ho M, Roberts A, Robertson J, Vanitallie T & Veech R (2012). Kinetics, safety and tolerability of (R)-3-

hydroxybutyl (R)-3-hydroxybutyrate in healthy adult subjects. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* **63**, 401–408.

- Cox PJ & Clarke K (2014). Acute nutritional ketosis: implications for exercise performance and metabolism. *Extrem Physiol Med* **3**, 17.
- Croteau E, Castellano C-A, Richard MA, Fortier M, Nugent S, Lepage M, Duchesne S, Whittingstall K, Turcotte ÉE, Bocti C, Fülöp T & Cunnane SC (2018). Ketogenic Medium Chain Triglycerides Increase Brain Energy Metabolism in Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 64, 551–561.
- Dearlove DJ, Faull OK, Rolls E, Clarke K & Cox PJ (2019). Nutritional Ketoacidosis During Incremental Exercise in Healthy Athletes. *Front Physiol* **10**, 290.
- Dearlove DJ, Harrison OK, Hodson L, Jefferson A, Clarke K & Cox PJ (2021). The effect of blood ketone concentration and exercise intensity on exogenous ketone oxidation rates in athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **53**, 505.
- Deery HA, Liang E, Di Paolo R, Voigt K, Murray G, Siddiqui MN, Egan GF, Moran C & Jamadar SD (2024). The association of regional cerebral blood flow and glucose metabolism in normative ageing and insulin resistance. *Sci Rep* 14, 14574.
- Duffin J, Mikulis DJ & Fisher JA (2021). Control of Cerebral Blood Flow by Blood Gases. *Front Physiol*; DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2021.640075.
- Evans M & Egan B (2018). Intermittent running and cognitive performance after ketone ester ingestion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **50**, 2330–2338.
- Faraci FM & Heistad DD (1990). Regulation of large cerebral arteries and cerebral microvascular pressure. *Circ Res* 66, 8–17.
- Gallo de Moraes A & Surani S (2019). Effects of diabetic ketoacidosis in the respiratory system. *World J Diabetes* **10**, 16–22.
- Goldberg EL, Asher JL, Molony RD, Shaw AC, Zeiss CJ, Wang C, Morozova-Roche LA, Herzog RI, Iwasaki A & Dixit VD (2017). β-Hydroxybutyrate deactivates neutrophil NLRP3 inflammasome to relieve gout flares. *Cell Rep* **18**, 2077–2087.
- Han Y, Bedarida T, Ding Y, Somba BK, Lu Q, Wang Q, Song P & Zou M-H (2018). β-Hydroxybutyrate prevents vascular senescence through hnRNP A1-mediated upregulation of Oct4. *Mol Cell* **71**, 1064–1078.
- Hasselbalch SG, Madsen PL, Hageman LP, Olsen KS, Justesen N, Holm S & Paulson OB (1996). Changes in cerebral blood flow and carbohydrate metabolism during acute hyperketonemia. *Am J Physiol* **270**, E746-51.
- Hoiland RL, Fisher JA & Ainslie PN (2019). Regulation of the cerebral circulation by arterial carbon dioxide. *Compr Physiol* **9**, 1101–1154.
- Hollyer T, Bordoni L, Kousholt B, Luijk J, Ritskes-Hoitinga M & Østergaard L (2019). The evidence for the physiological effects of lactate on the cerebral microcirculation: a systematic review. *J Neurochem*; DOI: 10.1111/jnc.14633.
- Homilius C, Seefeldt J, Axelsen J, Pedersen T, Sørensen T, Nielsen R, Wiggers H, Hansen J, Matchkov V, Bøtker H & Boedtkjer E (2023). Ketone body 3-hydroxybutyrate elevates cardiac output through peripheral vasorelaxation and enhanced cardiac contractility. *Basic Res Cardiol* 118, 37.
- Hu E, Du H, Shang S, Zhang Y & Lu X (2020). Beta-hydroxybutyrate enhances BDNF expression by increasing H3K4me3 and decreasing H2AK119ub in hippocampal neurons. *Front Neurosci* 14, 591177.
- Hu E, Du H, Zhu X, Wang L, Shang S, Wu X, Lu H & Lu X (2018). Beta-hydroxybutyrate promotes the expression of BDNF in hippocampal neurons under adequate glucose supply. *Neuroscience* **386**, 315–325.
- Iadecola C (2017). The Neurovascular Unit Coming of Age: A Journey through Neurovascular Coupling in Health and Disease. *Neuron* **96**, 17–42.
- Ide K, Eliasziw M, Poulin MJ & Poulin MJ (2003). Relationship between middle cerebral artery blood velocity and end-tidal PCO 2 in the hypocapnic-hypercapnic range in humans. *J Appl Physiol* **95**, 129–137.
- Ido Y, Chang K, Woolsey T & Williamson J (2001). NADH: sensor of blood flow need in brain, muscle, and other tissues. *FASEB J* **15**, 1419–1421.
- Ikeda K, Kawakami K, Onimaru H, Okada Y, Yokota S, Koshiya N, Oku Y, Iizuka M & Koizumi H (2017). The respiratory control mechanisms in the brainstem and spinal cord: integrative views of the neuroanatomy and neurophysiology. *J Physiol Sci* 67, 45–62.
- Ito H, Kanno I, Ibaraki M, Hatazawa J & Miura S (2003). Changes in Human Cerebral Blood Flow and Cerebral Blood Volume During Hypercapnia and Hypocapnia Measured by Positron Emission Tomography. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* **23**, 665–670.
- Jensen NJ, Nilsson M, Ingerslev JS, Olsen DA, Fenger M, Svart M, Møller N, Zander M, Miskowiak KW & Rungby J (2020*a*). Effects of β-hydroxybutyrate on cognition in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Eur J Endocrinol* **182**, 233–242.
- Jensen NJ, Wodschow HZ, Nilsson M & Rungby J (2020b). Effects of ketone bodies on brain metabolism and function in neurodegenerative diseases. *Int J Mol Sci* **21**, 1–17.

- Kawamura H, Sugiyama T, Wu DM, Kobayashi M, Yamanishi S, Katsumura K & Puro DG (2003). ATP: a vasoactive signal in the pericyte-containing microvasculature of the rat retina. *J Physiol* **551**, 787–799.
- Kim DY, Davis LM, Sullivan PG, Maalouf M, Simeone TA, van Brederode J & Rho JM (2007). Ketone bodies are protective against oxidative stress in neocortical neurons. *J Neurochem* **101**, 1316–1326.
- Kontos HA, Wei EP, Navari RM, Levasseur JE, Rosenblum WI & Patterson JL (1978). Responses of cerebral arteries and arterioles to acute hypotension and hypertension. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* **234**, H371–H383.
- Korte N, Nortley R & Attwell D (2020). Cerebral blood flow decrease as an early pathological mechanism in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol* **140**, 793–810.
- Williams LR & Leggett RW (1989). Reference values for resting blood flow to organs of man. *Clinical Physics and Physiological Measurement* **10**, 187.
- Lambertsen CJ, Semple SJG, Smyth MG & Gelfand R (1961). H+ and pCO2 as chemical factors in respiratory and cerebral circulatory control. *J Appl Physiol* **16**, 473–484.
- Lassen NA (1959). Cerebral Blood Flow and Oxygen Consumption in Man. *Physiol Rev* **39**, 183–238.
- Lassen NA (1968). Brain Extracellular pH: The Main Factor Controlling Cerebral Blood Flow. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 22, 247–251.
- Leenders KL, Perani D, Lammertsma AA, Heather JD, Buckingham P, Jones T, Healy MJR, Gibbs JM, Wise RJS & Hatazawa J (1990). Cerebral blood flow, blood volume and oxygen utilization: normal values and effect of age. *Brain* **113**, 27–47.
- Leffler CW, Mirro R, Pharris LJ & Shibata M (1994). Permissive role of prostacyclin in cerebral vasodilation to hypercapnia in newborn pigs. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* **267**, H285–H291.
- Lindauer U, Leithner C, Kaasch H, Rohrer B, Foddis M, Füchtemeier M, Offenhauser N, Steinbrink J, Royl G, Kohl-Bareis M & Dirnagl U (2009). Neurovascular Coupling in Rat Brain Operates Independent of Hemoglobin Deoxygenation. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow* & Metabolism 30, 757–768.
- Lopaschuk GD & Dyck JRB (2023). Ketones and the cardiovascular system. *Nature Cardiovascular Research* **2**, 425–437.
- Maalouf M, Sullivan PG, Davis L, Kim DY & Rho JM (2007). Ketones inhibit mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species production following glutamate excitotoxicity by increasing NADH oxidation. *Neuroscience* **145**, 256–264.

- Marcotte-Chénard A, Tremblay R, Falkenhain K, Little JP & Riesco E (2024). Effect of Acute and Chronic Ingestion of Exogenous Ketone Supplements on Blood Pressure: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Diet Suppl* **21**, 408–426.
- Marosi K, Kim SW, Moehl K, Scheibye-Knudsen M, Cheng A, Cutler R, Camandola S & Mattson MP (2016). 3-Hydroxybutyrate regulates energy metabolism and induces BDNF expression in cerebral cortical neurons. *J Neurochem* **139**, 769–781.
- Masino SA (2022). Ketogenic diet and metabolic therapies: expanded roles in health and disease. Oxford University Press.
- McCarthy C, Chakraborty S, Singh G, Yeoh BS, Schreckenberger Z, Singh A, Mell B, Bearss N, Yang T, Cheng X, Vijay-Kumar M, Wenceslau C & Joe B (2021*a*). Ketone body βhydroxybutyrate is an autophagy-dependent vasodilator. *JCI Insight*; DOI: 10.1172/jci.insight.149037.
- McCarthy DG, Bostad W, Bone J, Powley FJ, Richards DL & Gibala MJ (2023). Effect of Acute Ketone Monoester Ingestion on Cardiorespiratory Responses to Exercise and the Influence of Blood Acidosis. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **55**, 1286–1295.
- McCarthy DG, Bostad W, Powley FJ, Little JP, Richards DL & Gibala MJ (2021*b*). Increased cardiorespiratory stress during submaximal cycling after ketone monoester ingestion in endurance-trained adults. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism* **46**, 986–993.
- Mintun MA, Vlassenko AG, Rundle MM & Raichle ME (2004). Increased lactate/pyruvate ratio augments blood flow in physiologically activated human brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **101 2**, 659–664.
- Mujica-Parodi LR, Amgalan A, Sultan SF, Antal B, Sun X, Skiena S, Lithen A, Adra N, Ratai E-M, Weistuch C, Govindarajan ST, Strey HH, Dill KA, Stufflebeam SM, Veech RL & Clarke K (2020). Diet modulates brain network stability, a biomarker for brain aging, in young adults. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **117**, 6170–6177.
- Myette-Côté É, Caldwell HG, Ainslie PN, Clarke K & Little JP (2019). A ketone monoester drink reduces the glycemic response to an oral glucose challenge in individuals with obesity: a randomized trial. *Am J Clin Nutr* **110**, 1491–1501.
- Nelson MT, Patlak JB, Worley JF & Standen NB (1990). Calcium channels, potassium channels, and voltage dependence of arterial smooth muscle tone. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology* **259**, C3–C18.
- Newman JC & Verdin E (2017). β-Hydroxybutyrate: A Signaling Metabolite. *Annu Rev Nutr* **37**, 51–76.
- Nielsen R, Møller N, Gormsen LC, Tolbod LP, Hansson NH, Sorensen J, Harms HJ, Frøkiær J, Eiskjaer H, Jespersen NR, Mellemkjaer S, Lassen TR, Pryds K, Bøtker HE & Wiggers H

(2019). Cardiovascular Effects of Treatment With the Ketone Body 3-Hydroxybutyrate in Chronic Heart Failure Patients. *Circulation* **139**, 2129–2141.

- O'Connor A, Chang JL, Brownlow M & Contractor N (2018). Acute oral intake of betahydroxybutyrate in a pilot study transiently increased its capillary levels in healthy volunteers. *J Nutr Health Food Eng* **8**, 324–328.
- Ogoh S, Brothers M, Barnes Q, Eubank WL, Hawkins MN, Purkayastha S, O-Yurvati A & Raven PB (2005). The effect of changes in cardiac output on middle cerebral artery mean blood velocity at rest and during exercise. *Journal of Physiology* **569**, 697–704.
- Oneglia AP, Young BE, Cipher DJ, Zaha V & Nelson MD (2023). Acute effects of βhydroxybutyrate on left ventricular function in young, healthy adults. *J Appl Physiol* **135**, 1440–1445.
- Owen OE & Reichard GA (1971). Human forearm metabolism during progressive starvation. J Clin Invest **50**, 1536–1545.
- Parfenova H, Shibata M, Zuckerman S & Leffler CW (1994). CO2 and cerebral circulation in newborn pigs: cyclic nucleotides and prostanoids in vascular regulation. *American Journal* of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology 266, H1494–H1501.
- Park YK, Kim J-H, Choi SJ, Kim ST & Joo EY (2019). Altered Regional Cerebral Blood Flow Associated with Mood and Sleep in Shift Workers: Cerebral Perfusion Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. *jcn* **15**, 438–447.
- Poff AM, Koutnik AP & Egan B (2020). Nutritional Ketosis with Ketogenic Diets or Exogenous Ketones: Features, Convergence, and Divergence. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* Available at: https://journals.lww.com/acsm-csmr/Fulltext/2020/07000/Nutritional_Ketosis_with_Ketogenic_Diets_or.4.aspx.
- Poffé C, Robberechts R, Stalmans M, Vanderroost J, Bogaerts S & Hespel P (2023). Exogenous ketosis increases circulating dopamine concentration and maintains mental alertness in ultraendurance exercise. *J Appl Physiol* **134**, 1456–1469.
- Puchalska P & Crawford P (2017). Multi-dimensional Roles of Ketone Bodies in Fuel Metabolism, Signaling, and Therapeutics. *Cell Metab* **25**, 262–284.
- Querido JS & Sheel AW (2007). Regulation of cerebral blood flow during exercise. *Sports Med* **37**, 765–782.
- Quinones MD & Lemon PWR (2022). Ketone Ester Supplementation Improves Some Aspects of Cognitive Function during a Simulated Soccer Match after Induced Mental Fatigue. *Nutrients*; DOI: 10.3390/nu14204376.

- Ryan RM (1982). Control and information in the intrapersonal sphere: An extension of cognitive evaluation theory. *J Pers Soc Psychol* **43**, 450.
- Ryan RM, Mims V & Koestner R (1983). Relation of reward contingency and interpersonal context to intrinsic motivation: A review and test using cognitive evaluation theory. *J Pers Soc Psychol* **45**, 736.
- Sato K, Sadamoto T, Hirasawa A, Oue A, Subudhi AW, Miyazawa T & Ogoh S (2012). Differential blood flow responses to CO2 in human internal and external carotid and vertebral arteries. *Journal of Physiology* **590**, 3277–3290.
- Selvaraj S, Hu R, Vidula MK, Dugyala S, Tierney A, Ky B, Margulies KB, Shah SH, Kelly DP & Bravo PE (2022). Acute echocardiographic effects of exogenous ketone administration in healthy participants. *Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography* **35**, 305–311.
- Shimazu T, Hirschey MD, Newman J, He W, Shirakawa K, Le Moan N, Grueter CA, Lim H, Saunders LR, Stevens RD, Newgard CB, Farese RVJ, de Cabo R, Ulrich S, Akassoglou K & Verdin E (2013). Suppression of oxidative stress by β-hydroxybutyrate, an endogenous histone deacetylase inhibitor. *Science* **339**, 211–214.
- Shoemaker L, Wilson L, Lucas S, Machado L, Walker R & Cotter J (2020). Indomethacin markedly blunts cerebral perfusion and reactivity, with little cognitive consequence in healthy young and older adults. *J Physiol*; DOI: 10.1113/jp280118.
- Sims-Robinson C, Kim B & Feldman EL (2015). Chapter 13 Diabetes and Cognitive Dysfunction. In *Neurobiology of Brain Disorders*, ed. Zigmond MJ, Rowland LP & Coyle JT, pp. 189–201. Academic Press, San Diego. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780123982704000136.
- Skow RJ, MacKay CM, Tymko MM, Willie CK, Smith KJ, Ainslie PN & Day TA (2013). Differential cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity in anterior and posterior cerebral circulations. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* **189**, 76–86.
- Sleiman SF, Henry J, Al-Haddad R, El Hayek L, Abou Haidar E, Stringer T, Ulja D, Karuppagounder SS, Holson EB & Ratan RR (2016). Exercise promotes the expression of brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) through the action of the ketone body βhydroxybutyrate. *Elife* 5, e15092.
- Smith KJ & Ainslie PN (2017). Regulation of cerebral blood flow and metabolism during exercise. *Exp Physiol* **102**, 1356–1371.
- Soto-Mota A, Vansant H, Evans RD & Clarke K (2019). Safety and tolerability of sustained exogenous ketosis using ketone monoester drinks for 28 days in healthy adults. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* **109**, 104506.

- Stark CEL, Noche JA, Ebersberger JR, Mayer L & Stark SM (2023). Optimizing the mnemonic similarity task for efficient, widespread use. *Front Behav Neurosci* 17, 1080366.
- Stark SM, Kirwan CB & Stark CEL (2019). Mnemonic Similarity Task: A Tool for Assessing Hippocampal Integrity. *Trends Cogn Sci* 23, 938–951.
- Stefan M, Sharp M, Gheith R, Lowery R & Wilson J (2021). The Effect of Exogenous Beta-Hydroxybutyrate Salt Supplementation on Metrics of Safety and Health in Adolescents. *Nutrients*; DOI: 10.3390/nu13030854.
- Stubbs BJ, Cox PJ, Evans RD, Santer P, Miller JJ, Faull OK, Magor-Elliott S, Hiyama S, Stirling M & Clarke K (2017). On the Metabolism of Exogenous Ketones in Humans. *Front Physiol* 8, 848.
- Svart M, Gormsen LC, Hansen J, Zeidler D, Gejl M, Vang K, Aanerud J & Moeller N (2018). Regional cerebral effects of ketone body infusion with 3-hydroxybutyrate in humans: Reduced glucose uptake, unchanged oxygen consumption and increased blood flow by positron emission tomography. A randomized, controlled trial. *PLoS One* 13, 1–12.
- Szablewski L (2021). Brain Glucose Transporters: Role in Pathogenesis and Potential Targets for the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Int J Mol Sci*; DOI: 10.3390/ijms22158142.
- Thomas KN, Lewis NCS, Hill BG & Ainslie PN (2015). Technical recommendations for the use of carotid duplex ultrasound for the assessment of extracranial blood flow. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **309**, R707-20.
- Torosyan N, Sethanandha C, Grill JD, Dilley ML, Lee J, Cummings JL, Ossinalde C & Silverman DH (2018). Changes in regional cerebral blood flow associated with a 45 day course of the ketogenic agent, caprylidene, in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: Results of a randomized, double-blinded, pilot study. *Exp Gerontol* **111**, 118–121.
- Tzeng Y-C & Ainslie PN (2014). Blood pressure regulation IX: cerebral autoregulation under blood pressure challenges. *Eur J Appl Physiol* **114**, 545–559.
- Vlassenko AG, Rundle MM, Raichle ME & Mintun MA (2006). Regulation of blood flow in activated human brain by cytosolic NADH/NAD+ ratio. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 1964–1969.
- Waldman H, O'neal E, Barker G, Witt C, Lara D, Huber A, Forsythe V, Andrew K, D'Agostino D, Staiano W & Egan B (2023a). A Ketone Monoester with Carbohydrate Improves Cognitive Measures Post-Exercise, but not Performance in Trained Females. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*; DOI: 10.1249/MSS.00000000003352.
- Waldman HS, O'Neal EK, Barker GA, Witt CR, Lara DA, Huber AK, Forsythe VN, Koutnik AP, D'Agostino DP, Staiano W & Egan B (2023*b*). No Benefit of Ingesting a Low-Dose Ketone

Monoester Supplement on Markers of Cognitive Performance in Females. *Journal of Cognitive Enhancement* 7, 193–202.

- Walsh JJ, Caldwell HG, Neudorf H, Ainslie PN & Little JP (2021*a*). Short-term ketone monoester supplementation improves cerebral blood flow and cognition in obesity: A randomized cross-over trial. *J Physiol* **599**, 4763–4778.
- Walsh JJ, Neudorf H & Little JP (2021*b*). 14-Day ketone supplementation lowers glucose and improves vascular function in obesity: a randomized crossover trial. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **106**, 1738–1754.
- Watts ME, Pocock R & Claudianos C (2018). Brain energy and oxygen metabolism: Emerging role in normal function and disease. *Front Mol Neurosci*; DOI: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00216.
- Weis E, Puchalska P, Nelson AB, Taylor J, Moll I, Hasan SS, Dewenter M, Hagenmüller M, Fleming T, Poschet G, Hotz-Wagenblatt A, Backs J, Crawford PA & Fischer A (2022). Ketone body oxidation increases cardiac endothelial cell proliferation. *EMBO Mol Med* 14, e14753.
- Willie CK, Colino FL, Bailey DM, Tzeng YC, Binsted G, Jones LW, Haykowsky MJ, Bellapart J, Ogoh S & Smith KJ (2011). Utility of transcranial Doppler ultrasound for the integrative assessment of cerebrovascular function. *J Neurosci Methods* **196**, 221–237.
- Willie CK, Macleod DB, Shaw AD, Smith KJ, Tzeng YC, Eves ND, Ikeda K, Graham J, Lewis NC, Day TA & Ainslie PN (2012). Regional brain blood flow in man during acute changes in arterial blood gases. *Journal of Physiology* **590**, 3261–3275.
- Willie CK, Tzeng YC, Fisher JA & Ainslie PN (2014). Integrative regulation of human brain blood flow. *Journal of Physiology* **592**, 841–859.
- Wilson J & Lowery R (2017). *The ketogenic bible: The authoritative guide to ketosis*. Simon and Schuster.
- Wolf T, Lindauer U, Villringer A & Dirnagl U (1997). Excessive oxygen or glucose supply does not alter the blood flow response to somatosensory stimulation or spreading depression in rats. *Brain Res* **761**, 290–299.
- Wolff HG, Lennox WG & Allen MB (1930). Cerebral circulation: XII. The effect on pial vessels of variations in the oxygen and carbon dioxide content of the blood. *Arch Neurol Psychiatry* 23, 1097–1120.
- Woodman RJ, Playford DA, Watts GF, Cheetham C, Reed C, Taylor RR, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Burke V, Mori TA & Green D (2001). Improved analysis of brachial artery ultrasound using a novel edge-detection software system. *J Appl Physiol* **91**, 929–937.

- Xin L, Ipek Ö, Beaumont M, Shevlyakova M, Christinat N, Masoodi M, Greenberg N, Gruetter R & Cuenoud B (2018). Nutritional Ketosis Increases NAD(+)/NADH Ratio in Healthy Human Brain: An in Vivo Study by (31)P-MRS. *Front Nutr* **5**, 62.
- Yamanashi T, Iwata M, Kamiya N, Tsunetomi K, Kajitani N, Wada N, Iitsuka T, Yamauchi T, Miura A & Pu S (2017). Beta-hydroxybutyrate, an endogenic NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitor, attenuates stress-induced behavioral and inflammatory responses. *Sci Rep* **7**, 7677.
- Yomogida Y, Matsuo J, Ishida I, Ota M, Nakamura K, Ashida K & Kunugi H (2021). An fMRI Investigation into the Effects of Ketogenic Medium-Chain Triglycerides on Cognitive Function in Elderly Adults: A Pilot Study. *Nutrients*; DOI: 10.3390/nu13072134.
- Youm Y-H, Nguyen KY, Grant RW, Goldberg EL, Bodogai M, Kim D, D'agostino D, Planavsky N, Lupfer C & Kanneganti TD (2015). The ketone metabolite β-hydroxybutyrate blocks NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated inflammatory disease. *Nat Med* **21**, 263–269.
- Yurista SR, Chong C-R, Badimon JJ, Kelly DP, de Boer RA & Westenbrink BD (2021). Therapeutic Potential of Ketone Bodies for Patients With Cardiovascular Disease: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 77, 1660–1669.
- Zhu X, Smith MA, Honda K, Aliev G, Moreira PI, Nunomura A, Casadesus G, Harris PLR, Siedlak SL & Perry G (2007). Vascular oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease. *J Neurol Sci* **257**, 240–246.

Appendices

Appendix A - Menstrual Cycle Questionnaire



Version 1 - February 12th 2023 (HIREB #15454)

68

1

Appendix B – Dietary Recall Sheet



24-Hour Dietary Recall

Participant ID: _____ Date: _____ RA: _____

Day of the week: Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

Does this day represent your typical eating habits (excluding provided meals)? Yes No

Please be as specific and honest as possible for review with the Research Assistant. Thank you.

Food Item	Quantity	Notes
Example: Breakfast		
Large brown eggs	2	Scrambled eggs
Folgers coffee	1 cup	With crème and sugar
Whole grain bread	2 slices	Dempsters
Butter	1 tbsp	

Version 1, June 26th, 2023

1

Appendix C – Consensus Sleep Diary

kCBF Dose Study Nightly Sleep Diary

Participant ID:

	Today's date			
1.	What time did you get into bed?			
2.	What time did you try to go to sleep?			
3.	How long did it take you to fall asleep?			
4.	How many times did you wake up, not counting your final awakening?			
5.	In total, how long did these awakenings last?			
6.	What time was your final awakening?			
7.	In total, how long was your sleep?			
8.	How would you rate the quality of your sleep?	 Very poor Poor Fair Good Very Good 	 Very poor Poor Fair Good Very Good 	 Very poor Poor Fair Good Very Good
9.	Comments (if applicable) Ex. "I have a cold"			

Version 1: August 24, 2023 (HIREB #15454)

Appendix D - Intrinsic Motivation Subscale of the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory

Version 1: November 7th, 2023

Participant ID: Visit Number Date: For each of the following statements, please indicate how true it is for you, using the following scale: 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 not at all true somewhat true very true 1. I enjoyed doing this activity very much. 2. This activity was fun to do. 3. I thought this was a boring activity. 4. This activity did not hold my attention at all. 5. I would describe this activity as very interesting. 6. I thought this activity was quite enjoyable. 7. While I was doing this activity, I was thinking about how much I enjoyed it.	McMaster University	GNITIVE	<u>E TASK</u>	EVALU	JATIO	N QUE	STIONNAIRE	
For each of the following statements, please indicate how true it is for you, using the following scale: 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 not at all true somewhat true very true 1. I enjoyed doing this activity very much	Participant ID:		Visi	t Numb	er		Date:	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 not at all true somewhat true very true 1. I enjoyed doing this activity very much 2. This activity was fun to do 3. I thought this was a boring activity 4. This activity did not hold my attention at all 5. I would describe this activity as very interesting 6. I thought this activity was quite enjoyable 7. While I was doing this activity, I was thinking about how much I enjoyed it	For each of the following st scale:	atements	s, please	indicate	e how t	true it is	for you, using the	following
not at all true somewhat true very true 1. I enjoyed doing this activity very much 2. This activity was fun to do 3. I thought this was a boring activity 4. This activity did not hold my attention at all 5. I would describe this activity as very interesting 6. I thought this activity was quite enjoyable 7. While I was doing this activity, I was thinking about how much I enjoyed it	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
 I enjoyed doing this activity very much This activity was fun to do I thought this was a boring activity I thought this was a boring activity This activity did not hold my attention at all I would describe this activity as very interesting I thought this activity was quite enjoyable While I was doing this activity, I was thinking about how much I enjoyed it 	not at all	true	som	ewhat tr	ue		very true	
	 I enjoyed doing this This activity was fun I thought this was a I thoight this was a This activity did not I would describe this I thought this activit While I was doing th 	activity v i to do boring ac hold my a s activity ty was qu his activity	ery muc ctivity attentio as very i ite enjoy y, I was t	n at all. nteresti vable.	ng		uch I enjoyed it	

kCBF Dose Study (HIREB #15454)

Appendix E - Gastrointestinal Symptoms Questionnaire

Date:	Participant ID:	Vi	sit # (1,2,3):
kCBF Dose Study G	astrointestinal Sym	ptoms Scale	
DAY 1			
Instructions: Please mark a v	vertical line through the horizon	tal line to indicate you	r response to each question.
No nausea			Worst imaginable nausea
No urge to vomit			_ Worst imaginable urge to vomit
No bloating			_ Worst imaginable bloating
No belching			_ Worst imaginable belching
No cramps			_ Worst imaginable cramps
Which dose do you think yo How confident are you in th	u received? PLACEBO nat response? Please mark a ver	KETONE-LOW tical line through the l	KETONE-HIGH horizontal line.
Not confident a	tall		I am 100% confident

Version 1: August 24, 2023 (HIREB #15454)

1

Appendix F – HiREB Approval Letter

FireB Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board					
Date: Mar-09-2023					
Local Principal Investigators: Dr. Jercey Walsh					
Participating HIREB Centre(s): McMaster Universit	iy .				
Project ID: 15454					
Project Title: The effect of acute betwee monoscher in	eation on conduct blood flow and coor	milion.			
Project Trace: The effort of active tende involvement of	ferrore on our case and red	passas			
Review Type: Designed					
Date of Final Approval: Mar-08-2023					
Ethics Expiry Date: Mar-08-2024					
The Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (HBUE	B) Panel B has reviewed and approves	d the above-mentioned study.			
The following documents have been approved:					
Document Name	Document Date	Document Version			
Ketone Dose_deidentifier key	Dec-05-2022	1			
Ketane Dose_DCS_V1	Dec-05-2022	1			
kCBF_Menetrual Questionnaire_V1	Dec-09-2022	1			
GetActiveQuestionnaire_CSEP	Jan-09-2023	1			
GetActiveQuestionnaire_CSEP_ReferenceDocument	Jan-09-2023	1			
kCBF_Protocol_V2_clean	Jan-21-2023	2			
kCBF_Recruitment Poster_V2_clean	Jan-21-2023	3			
NCBP_Email Recruitment Script_V2_clean	Jun-21-2023	1			
kCBF Consent Form V2 clean	Jan. 21, 2023				
	200-01-02002	2			
The following documents have been acknowledged Document Name	Document Date	2 Document Version			
The following documents have been acknowledged Document Name Walsh, GCP confident Wilde IBREB has reviewed and approved this app molece under behild result-master.	Document Date Doc-09-2022 dication, the research must be cond	2 Document Version 1 hered in accordance with applicable regulations and institutional			
The following documents have been acknowledged Decument Name Walah, GCP corificate While HIBEEB has reviewed and approved this app and/or public bash requirements. We are public bash requirements. We are public bash requirements. We are public bash requirements. Real members insult final approval for the above rea moved of HIBEEB approval. Any changes or envisions Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board. REB members insolved in the research project do not p The Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (HIBEE Heathbrear Hamilton, Research Ethics Board (HIBEE Heathbrear Hamilton, Research Ethics Board (HIBEE Heathbrear Hamilton, Por studies conducted at 50, No splicatile Regulations, Prov studies conducted at 50, No HBEEB is qualified through the Clinical Protection (OHB) Sincereby,	Decument Date decation, the research must be cond ned study until the expiry date noted a to the original submission must be sub- articipate in the review, discussion or o Itip porvides ethical review and ongoing the Vacuty of Health Sciences at Must the Vacuty of Health Sciences at the review and the provision or near the sub- review and the provision or aph's Healthcare Hamilton, HiREEB o rTO; REB Qualification Program and f.).	2 Decument Version 1 barted in accordance with applicable regulations and institutional barted in accordance with applicable regulations and institutional barted in accordance with applicable regulations and institutional barted in a HIREB anneadment form for noview and apprecial by the decision. (othical eveninght on behalf of Hareflon Health Sciences, Sr. Joseph's famer University and Niagara Health. HIBEB operators in compliance with Entries Division 5 of the Frond and Deeg Regulatione, Part 6 of the Niared the Ontario Previoual Health Ethics Onder of Health and Harran Services in registered with the U.S. Department of Health and Harran Services			
The following documents have been acknowledged Decomposition of the second sec	Para Poince b Become Date [Dec-09-2022] deation, the research must be cond not analy until the cupiry date noted a to be original submission must be sub- articipate in the review, discussion or of 11) provides oftical review and cogning the Faculty of Health Sciences at Mdb Faculty of Health Sciences at dust the Faculty of Health Sciences at dust the Faculty of Health Sciences at dust the Faculty of Health Sciences at dust (TO) REB Qualification Program and r)). Page 1 of 2	2 Decument Version I Decument Version I barted in accordance with applicable regulations and institutional hered in accordance with applicable regulations and institutional here. Continuation beyond that date will require further review and naited on a HIREB amendment form for review and approval by the decision. part C Division 5 of the Food and Deg Regulations, Part 4 of the Named for Conduct of Research Involving Hammers (TCPS 2): The Part C Division 5 of the Food and Deg Regulations, Part 4 of the Named for Conduct of Research Involving Hammers (TCPS 2): The Part C Division 5 of the Food and Deg Regulations, Part 4 of the Named in Edition of the U.S. Degartment of Health and Hamma Services			
The following documents have been acknowledged Decument Name Walab, GCP coefficiale While IBEEB has reviewed and approved this app and/or public health requirements. We are pleased to insue final approval. Any damp on envisions Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board. REB members involved in the research project do not p The Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (HBEE Healthcone Hamilton, Research Ethics Board (HBEE) Healthcone Hamilton, Research Protection of Cool CD applicable Regulations. For studies conducted at 50.100 (DBBS) Office for Haman Research Protection (OHBJ Sinceroly, Databack America Structure America America America Structure America America Structure America America Structure America America Structure America St	Page 1 of 2 Page 1 Page 1	2 Decument Version 1 hereted in accordance with applicable regulations and institutional hove, Continuation beyond that date will require further review and nited on a HEREB association for noview and apprecial by the decision. (othical eveninght on behalf of Hareflow Headth Sciences, Sr. Joseph's faster University and Niagara Headth. HEREB operates in compliance with Filted Chronical Research Investing Blummer (FUES 2); The Part C Division 5 of the Flood and Deeg Regulations, Part 4 of the Nianed free Oxtanic Proceedal Headth Information Protocoline Act 2004 and its regions with the U.S. Department of Headth and Harean Services			



		Central and noncentr critical $F = 3.2594$ 0.8 0.6 0.4 0.2 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 4 5 Test family Statistical test AND/2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	al distributions Pi	rotocol of power analyses	13 14
O From Variances		Type of power analysis A priori: Compute required sample size - give	ven a, power, and eff	ect size	0
Variance explained by special effect Error variance Number of groups Total sample size Number of measurements Direct Partial n ⁴ Calculate Effect size f(U) Calculate and transfer to main wir	1 2 100 4 0.23 0.5465357	Input parameters Determine Effect size f(U) α err prob Power (1-β err prob) Number of groups Number of measurements Nonsphericity correction ε	0.5465357 0.05 0.8 1 3 1	Output parameters Noncentrality parameter λ Critical F Numerator df Denominator df Total sample size Actual power	10.7532458 3.2594463 2.0000000 36.0000000 19 0.8105623
Close effect size drawer			Options	X-Y plot for a range of values	Calculate